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Stephanie Mauterstock, Executive Director, prepared this 2020-21 Accountability Progress Report 
on behalf of the school’s board of trustees: 

Trustee’s Name 
Board Position 

Office (e.g. chair, treasurer, 
secretary) 

committees (e.g. finance, 
executive) 

Gerald Karikari Chair Finance/Operations 
Committee; HR Committee, 

Executive Committee 
James Ding Trustee Academic Committee, 

Executive Committee 
Cameil Dalgetty-Jarvis Trustee Finance/Operations 

Committee; HR Committee, 
Executive Committee 

Tatum Boothe Trustee Academic Committee, 
Executive Committee 

Nicole C. Blair-Barzey Trustee Academic Committee, 
Executive Committee 

Stephanie Mauterstock has served as the Executive Director since July 20, 2020. 
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SCHOOL OVERVIEW 
The State University of New York Board of Trustees approved the Merrick Academy – Queens 
Public Charter School (Merrick Academy or the School) in June of 2000. Located in Community 
School District 29 in Queens Village, New York City, the School opened in September 2000, with 
an enrollment of 121 students in grades K – 2. In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy had 
an enrollment of 275-285 kindergarten through fifth grade students. 

Our mission: Merrick Academy is a STEAM based school that cultivates critical thinking, 
problem solving and inquiry amongst all learners in an environment that provides extensive 
whole-child support based on ensuring equity and empowerment for all learners through 
effective and innovative approaches to teaching and learning fostered by a world class faculty. 
Merrick Academy recognizes that in order to be successful, our children need support from both 
the home and school. We know a strong partnership with parents will make a great difference in a 
child’s education. As partners, we at Merrick Academy, share the responsibility for our children’s 
success and want all stakeholders to know that we will do our very best to carry out our 
responsibilities. 

We, at Merrick Academy, pursue excellence in our all-inclusive learning community of students, 
educators, parents and community members. We work towards the common purpose of providing 
an excellent educational experience for all students. Through our high degree of individualized 
instruction, increased time on the task of learning and innovative academic curriculum, we will 
ensure that all of our students are college and career ready. 

Overall, Merrick Academy’s motto “in pursuit of excellence” is a constant reminder of the 
expectations we set for our learning community. 

The focus of the Merrick Academy is on the core skills of reading, language and mathematics. 
Merrick Academy is organized to provide an extended day, a high degree of individualized 
instruction and an innovative research-based academic curriculum. 

ENROLLMENT SUMMARY 

School Enrollment by Gr evel and School Year 
School 
Year K 1 2 

ade L

3 4 5 6 Tota 
l 

2016-17 79 112 83 83 112 84 
1 

(UGE 
) 

554 

2017-18 82 79 109 90 90 103 N/A 553 

2018-19 98 83 80 97 79 86 N/A 523 

2019-20 

2020-21 

80 

94 

107 

103 

88 

117 

83 

97 

98 

87 

82 

101 

N/A 

N/A 

538 

599 
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GOAL 1: ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS 
ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS 

Goal 1: English Language Arts 
All students enrolled in the Merrick Academy Queens Public Charter School will become proficient 
in reading and writing of the English language. 

BACKGROUND 

Merrick Academy has a literacy rich design where reading and writing exists in every subject area. 
There are authentic texts and opportunities to read. All are reading with purpose and making 
connections to self, the community, and the world. All are making connections across content 
areas. 

The School’s ELA curriculum is rooted in the following principles: 

1. Read and Write Critically- summarize, interpret, critique and make connections across all 
disciplines by reading and writing in response to informational, technical and fictional texts 

2. Engage the Writer’s Process 
3. Construct logical arguments that utilizes evidence from multiple points of views 
4. Speak with confidence, clarity and discernment about a wide range of topics demonstrating 

the use of effective research techniques with various pieces of media and a synthesis of the 
information 

5. Listen to others and be able to break down what is said to either critique, question and/or 
challenges by providing logical explanation or refutation 

6. Identify and convey a strong understanding of the interconnectedness between themes, 
genres and central ideas 

7. Demonstrate knowledge of the difference between writing informally and formally by 
selecting appropriate styles, expressions, and vocabulary 

The ELA curriculum relies on a balanced literacy approach that incorporates authentic texts, 
guided reading, centers, independent reading, and writing. In grades K-2, students learn 
handwriting, phonemic awareness, concepts about print, and phonics. 

Summary of the school’s modality changes during 2020-21: Similar to many NYC charter 
schools, Merrick Academy’s program was fully remote in 2020-21. However, we did open a 
Learning Center at our building with “student pods” run by operational staff to support our highest 
need students, such as those living in temporary housing, requiring child care as their parents were 
essential workers, students who did not have a parent at home that spoke English and could not 
effectively support them in completing remote instruction; and, high need special education 
students, often those who required a 1:1 paraprofessional as mandated by their Individualized 
Education Plans. The Learning Center opened in December 2020 and served 120 students through 
June 2021. 

4 
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The school’s remote schedule offered professional development for teachers every Wednesday 
afternoon for 3 hours. The professional development provided was led by the CAO/Principal, 
Assistant Principal of Mathematics, Assistant Principal of ELA, and the Director of Student 
Support Services. The Director of Student Support Services is responsible for social emotional 
learning at Merrick and manages special education and supports students who are below grade 
level. Professional development was also provided by an ELA consultant, Math consultant, DEIA 
consultant, STEAM consultant and ANet, who provided data training to teachers. 

The school also served 270 students during a summer program, which was 50% academically 
focused and both prioritized students whose i-Ready results indicated they were below grade level 
and included emerging kindergarten students. The summer program was run and operated by the 
school, to ensure health and safety protocol were followed. 

METHOD 

During 2020-21, the school(s) primarily used the following exam to assess student growth and 
achievement in ELA:  i-Ready 

MERRICK ACADEMY ADMINISTERS THREE I-READY ASSESSMENTS TO MONITOR 
STUDENTS’ PERFORMANCE IN ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS EACH ACADEMIC YEAR. 
WITHOUT NYS ASSESSMENT DATA TO ASSESS THE SCHOOL’S PROGRESS AGAINST 
OUR CHARTER APPROVED ACCOUNTABILITY GOALS, AND WITH I-READY’S 
RESEARCH- PROVED ALIGNMENT TO NYS STANDARDS, MERRICK ACADEMY USED 
THE I-READY RESULTS TO ASSESS AND EVALUATE STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
THE 2020-21 SCHOOL YEAR. 

i-Ready Diagnostic describes1 its services for reading/ELA as an effective, research-based, web-
based diagnostic assessment for students in grades K–12. Using a compatible computer with 
internet access and a headset, students take the online Diagnostic that assesses performance overall 
and down to the sub-skill level. i-Ready’s sophisticated computer adaptive algorithms ensure 
learners are assessed efficiently across a number of knowledge domains. The questioning format 
adapts as students respond to each question—getting more or less challenging as needed—to 
complete the diagnosis and identify each child’s performance level. The adaptive nature of the 
assessment meets students at their own skill level, so they experience success as well as challenge 
while i-Ready accurately measures their mastery of New York State Learning Standards. 

i-Ready includes a powerful management and reporting suite for delivery of essential performance 
information at the school, class, and student/group levels. Actionable, real-time reports guide 
educators in identifying the instructional needs and abilities of individual students and instructional 
groups, and also include explicit next steps for remediating areas of academic weakness. 

i-Ready Diagnostic is strongly aligned to the New York State Learning Standards for ELA. The 
independent Educational Research Institute of America conducted a research study evaluating the 
relationship between i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State end-of-year assessments. 

1 http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/iready-slo-assessment-form-c-and-h.pdf. 
5 
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The research found a high correlation between i-Ready Diagnostic and the New York State 
assessments. i-Ready was also shown to accurately predict end-of-year proficiency rates based on 
students' fall, winter, and spring Diagnostic performance. The strong correlations between the 
spring i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State assessments—with overall correlations 
of .81 for ELA for all students across grades 3–8—exceed the Center on Response to Intervention's 
recommended .70 threshold for correlations. Additionally, Curriculum Associates partnered with 
leading academics to develop a regression-based model for predicting New York State Assessment 
proficiency rates. i-Ready proficiency prediction from fall, winter, and spring Diagnostic results 
proved to be highly accurate and remarkably consistent with observed (actual) NYSTP proficiency 
rates— often within one percent of observed proficiency for the sample. Plus, i-Ready accurately 
identified individual student needs on the standards to drive targeted instruction—both student-
and teacher-led. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATIONMNA 

End of Year Performance on 2020-21 i-Ready ELA Assessment 
By All Students and Students Enrolled in At Least Their Second Year 

Goal: 75% of all 3rd-8th Grade Students Enrolled for 2 Years will Perform At of Above Grade 
Level 

Grades 

All Students Enrolled in at least their 
Second Year 

Percent 
Mid-On 

Grade Level 
or Above 

Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Mid-On 

Grade Level 
or Above 

Number 
Tested 

3 
4 

36% 
27% 

85 
85 

40.3% 
29.7% 

72 
74 

5 21% 95 21.6% 88 
All 28% 265 29.9% 234 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its absolute measure of 75% of 3rd 
through 5th grade students enrolled in at least their second year at the school performing at or 
above grade level standards on the English language arts assessment. Overall, nearly 30% of 
students enrolled at the school for two or more years performed at or above grade level on the i-
Ready spring English language arts assessment, almost two percentage points above the school 
average for all 3rd through 5th grade students. 

Merrick Academy’s 3rd grade had the highest percentage of students attending the school for two 
or more years performing at or above grade level on the i-Ready spring English language arts 
assessment. Third grade students enrolled at the school for at least two years had a higher 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level compared to all 3rd grade, 40.3% 
compared to 36%. This trend of students enrolled at the school for at least two years having a 
higher percentage of students performing at or above grade level on the i-Ready English language 
arts spring assessment continued at the 4th and 5th grades. 

6 
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Merrick did administer the NYS ELA Assessment. However, having been remote all year, there 
was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet available. 

ADDITIONAL CONTEXT AND EVIDENCE 

Merrick enrolls a high percentage of economically disadvantaged students and students with 
disabilities. In the 2019-20 school year, 80% of Merrick’s students were economically 
disadvantaged and 20% were identified as having a disability, five and two percentage points, 
respectively, higher than the district average. While learning during the pandemic has had negative 
effects on most students, the student population Merrick serves has been hit particularly hard. A 
report released by the federal Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights found “that the 
pandemic has negatively affected academic growth, widening pre-existing disparities” and in core 
subject areas like reading “there are worrisome signs that in some grades students might be falling 
behind pre-pandemic expectations.” United States Department of Education’s Office of Civil 
Rights, Education in a Pandemic: The Disparate Impacts of COVID-19 on America’s Students, 
available at https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf. 

Further, “[A]cademic progress for students of color appears to have been disproportionately 
impacted by the pandemic.” United States Department of Education’s Office of Civil Rights, 
Education in a Pandemic: The Disparate Impacts of COVID-19 on America’s Students, at p. 5, 
available at https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf. 
Indeed, a Renaissance Star report issued in the middle of the 2020-21 school year noted, 
“[S]tudents of color were even further from meeting pre-pandemic growth expectations than they 
were in the beginning of the school year,” warning, “‘students with slower-than-typical within-
year growth rates’ . . . were all disproportionately ‘at-risk for falling farther behind.’” Id. at pp. 16-
17. 

Compounding the impact that COVID-19 has had on academic achievement, the national norms 
that i-Ready uses to assess student achievement were updated in August 2020 and are currently 
based on data from the 2018-19 school year. Curriculum Associate Research Report, i-Ready 
Diagnostic National Norms Tables for Reading and Mathematics for Grades K-8 2020-21, August 
2020, available at: https://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7539/urlt/iready-norms-tables-K-8-
2020.pdf. In other words, the norms that are now being used to assess student achievement do not 
take into consideration the disruption in the traditional learning model most students in this country 
have experienced in the last two school years. In fact, the norms used this year are more stringent 
than those used for the 2019-20 school year, resulting in students being expected to achieve at a 
higher level, while having experienced 18-months of academic disruption because of COVID-19. 

SUMMARY OF THE ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE ENGLISH LANGUAGE 
ARTS GOAL 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick did not meet its English language arts assessment goals. 
However, given the ongoing pandemic and the impact it has had on academic achievement, 
particularly among the student population Merrick serves, Merrick’s English language arts 
assessment results should be considered satisfactory. As described in detail in the action plan 

10 
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below, we intend to close the achievement gaps created by the pandemic, so long as we are able 
to maintain in in-person learning for the entirety of the 2021-22 school year. 

2020-21 i-Ready ELA Assessment End of Year Results 

Measure Subgroup Targe 
t 

Teste 
d 

Result 
s Met? 

Measure 1: Each year, the school’s median 
percent progress to Annual Typical Growth 
of 3rd through 8th grade students will be 
equal to or greater than 100%.  

All 
students 100% 234 79% No 

Measure 2: Each year, the school’s median 
percent progress to Annual Typical Growth 
of all 3rd through 8th grade students who 
were two or more grade levels below grade 
level in the fall will be equal to or greater 
than 110% by the spring assessment 
administration. 
Measure 3: Each year, the median percent 
progress to Annual Typical Growth of 
3rd through 8th grade students with 
disabilities at the school will be equal to or 
greater than the median percent progress to 
Annual Typical Growth of 3rd through 8th 

grade general education students at the 
school. 

Low initial 
achievers 

Students 
with 

disabilities 
2 

110% 

90%3 

234 

66 

101.5 

64.5% 

No 

No 

Measure 4: Each year, 75% of 3rd through 
8th grade students enrolled in at least their 
second year at the school will score at 
the mid on-grade level or above scale score 
for the year-end assessment. 

2+ students 75% 234 29% No 

ACTION PLAN 

The School will be implementing a number of new initiatives during the 2021-22 school year to 
improve ELA student achievement. The core beliefs under-pinning our academic planning for our 
post-pandemic return include, but are not limited to: 

2 Schools may elect to report the aggregated data for a different subpopulation of students if the total tested 
number of students with disabilities is 5 or fewer, or if the school’s mission aligns to serving a different specific 
subpopulation.  For schools that choose a different subpopulation (e.g. English language learners, homeless 
students, etc.), please explain the rationale in the narrative section 
3 Target should reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth for all general education students. 
In the case that the school elects to measure the achievement of a different subpopulation, the target should 
reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth of all students at the school not included in that 
subpopulation. 

11 
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● We teach every student grade-level content standards and we meet students where they are; 
● Our programs and offerings are responsive to the most current and accurate data; 
● We must intentionally plan to “teach and insist.” Teachers and leaders need high-quality, 

aligned, and consistent training and support in order to deliver on a robust plan for 
unfinished learning AND grade level learning; 

● We believe that the whole community will work together to help our students grow; 
● Strengthening and aligning our current resources and building more effective and 

consistent systems and processes that lead to teacher, leader, and student achievement; and 
● We believe that accomplishing our goals requires intentionality in a way that allows us to 

approach academics in a tiered and purposeful plan that closes gaps and keeps us on track 
for long term goals. 

Our theory of action, which is based on research, case studies, school visits, and interrogations, is 
simple: If we deliver rigorous on grade-level instruction, And we create the structures necessary 
to execute on impactful remediation and acceleration And we build teacher and leader content 
knowledge and capacity to provide effective instruction, Then, 

● Students will continue to build content knowledge on grade-level standards while 
simultaneously receiving academic intervention support to close foundational learning 
gaps and make up for unfinished learning; and 

● Our staff and school community will have the tools, knowledge, experiences, and resources 
necessary to execute our school’s instructional vision (short-term and long term). 

In order to address unfinished learning among our students, we will implement the following 
acceleration, remediation, and enrichment strategies: 

● Deliver Strong Tier I instruction: 

1. Strong instructional delivery of grade level content through effective 
execution of the new curriculum. 

● Acceleration Blocks 

1. Daily 40-minute small-group instruction targeted toward accelerating core 
foundational skills in literacy; 

2. Classrooms and class structures that include daily Tier 2 strategies to 
address foundational skills acceleration. (Targeted smaller groups); 

3. Extend and reorganize math and literacy blocks to include time for 
intentional spiraling of unfinished content into grade level content and 
delivery; 

4. Internalize and implement Daily Execution Protocol  for Humanities Block; 
and 

5. Reorganizing ELA curriculum scope and sequence charts to ensure the 
efficacy and efficiency of the delivery of unfinished learning strategies as 
well as grade level content. 

12 
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● Strong Start (Phase I and II) 

1. “All hands on deck” approach gathering both summative and formative data 
for students; 

2. Implement new Student Information System(s) to efficiently and effectively 
house and communicate student data; 

3. Community urgency and celebrations that center progress and excitement 
instead of “loss” or “being in deficit”; and 

4. Update and beautify hallways, classrooms, and common areas to build 
excitement and support immersion. 

● Ongoing Implementation and monitoring of RTI 

1. Conduct weekly meetings with consistency and fidelity and communicate 
clear strategies and next steps for all stakeholders; 

2. Alignment of interventions to students’ specific gaps; 
3. RTI/MTSS materials archived: calendar, meeting notes; 
4. Instructional leaders engage in RTI walkthroughs to monitor and Tier 1, 2, 

and 3 interventions; 
5. Restructuring of our 40-minute academic support block to “Student 

Learning Lab.” A Student Learning Lab is an intervention block where 
scholars receive support based on the area of need. AIS providers will also 
push in during this time; and 

6. Including “High dosage tutoring” for our students who are most 
academically at-risk. Examples include after school at least 3 times a week 
3:30 pm -5:30 pm and Saturday school 9 am-12pm. 

An example of high-dosage tutoring planned for 2021-2022, called Academic Intervention 
Services at Merrick, is below. For ELA, the curriculum and time planned for students at risk is 
the following: 

● Raz-Kids 

● Up to 90 minutes a week for at-risk/qualifying students 

13 
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● Data Cycles 

1. Proactively monitor and respond to data: 
a. Student Individual Learner Profiles and on-going use and ownership 

of the plans; 
b. Daily exit tickets and debriefs; and 
c. Strengthening our data cycle system of reporting to ensure that 

teachers have a deeper and better view of their students’ growth on 
a dashboard and/or digital binders that teachers can easily access. 

● Building Teacher and Leader Capacity and Accountability 

1. Instructional Leaders engage in RTI walk throughs to monitor Tier 1, 2, and 
3 interventions; 

2. Time in weekly “Learning Lab” for check-ins on strategies and results of 
students in Tier 1 and Tier 2; and 

3. “Front loading” professional development for teachers on key instructional 
strategies for Tier 1 and Tier 2 during Pre-Service as they are planning for 
initial grade-level curricular units. Revamping and archiving observation 
and feedback protocols and tools, lesson plans, and trackers to specifically 
monitor progress in this area and provide stronger opportunities for 
coaching and professional development. 

Strategic Approach for Content Knowledge Building and Implementation of New 
Curriculum 

● Accelerated Implementation of a researched based curriculum 

1. Development of an implementation plan that is designed for effective 
internalization, delivery, and high-level implementation that garners student 
growth and achievement. Including immersion, implementation, reshaping 
to meet needs, etc.; 

2. Implementing a curriculum pacing and implementation tracker that is 
aligned and housed alongside curriculum maps, professional development 
calendar, assessments. Flow of the Day; and 

3. Intentionality with informational and professional development events to 
get student, teacher and family buy-in, support and feedback. 

● Teacher and Leader Development and Capacity Building 

1. Weekly Learning Labs (Lesson Learning Lab Model) for teachers that 
include: check-ins on pacing, understanding, peer and expert feedback, 
planning and practice for teachers; 

2. Bi-weekly professional development in key teacher and leader actions that 
lead to successful implementation of curriculum while building content 
knowledge and high leverage teacher/classroom strategies; 
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3. Bi-weekly one-on-one coaching sessions that ensure that teachers get 
feedback in aligned areas of instruction. Coaching and Feedback Cycle AP 
and Coach Meeting Protocol; 

4. Regular teacher step-backs and data days where teachers receive 
professional development in key areas of growth for their students while 
creating action-plans; 

5. Tiered professional development that is responsive to teacher and leader 
needs. Arc of the Year (PD); and 

6. Clearer alignment and coherence of the tools leaders use to provide 
feedback and support. (Get Better Faster and Instructional Practice Guide 
rubrics IPG) 

7. Merrick Academy had two ELA coaches in 2019-20, which were 
terminated after the 2019-20 school year due to budget constraints, 
requiring a heavier lift for our Assistant Principal responsible for ELA. The 
school, reconsidering the need of coaches, has hired an ELA coach for 
2021-2022. 

● Strong Start 

1. “All hands on deck” approach to building routines and rituals that build 
Socio-emotional learning through strong academic practices; and 

2. “Teach and Insist”-after diagnostics jump right into grade level curriculum 
with clear plans for spiraling in cumulative review. 

● Departmentalization in the testing grades to allow teachers to focus more on 
content area depth and breadth 

● Strengthening and streamlining data cycles 

1. Streamlining PD calendar, timely data distribution and support for teachers, 
assessment calendar and data meetings. 

● Strengthening community investment and knowledge of what is being taught 
and why. 

1. Develop and implement a Communication Plan that organizes and captures 
key communication strategies in order to improve transparency about the 
Teaching and Learning Cycles, communicate progress, celebrate 
community, and on-going feedback on the impact of the program 

GOAL 2: MATHEMATICS 

ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE MATHEMATICS 
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Goal 2: Mathematics 

BACKGROUND 

Merrick Academy’s mathematics curriculum is rooted in the following principles: 

1. Develop and apply multiple strategies to solve routine problems 
2. Apply methods of problem solving to complex problems requiring various methods 
3. Ability to increase precision and accuracy through approximating 
4. Utilize of inductive and deductive reasoning to solve problems; multi step, abstract and 

complex real-world problems 
5. Represent mathematical problems in multiple formats such as analytic, numerical and 

geometrical 

Merrick Academy’s mathematics curriculum is a comprehensive approach to the subject. Students 
are engaged in math review, problem solving, conceptual understanding, and mastery of math 
facts. In grades K-5, students participate in guided math instruction and centers, as well as number 
stories and practice in foundational skills. 

METHOD 

During 2020-21, the school(s) primarily used the following exam to assess student growth and 
achievement in mathematics:  i-Ready 

IN THE 2020-21 SCHOOL YEAR, MERRICK ACADEMY ADMINISTERED THREE I-
READY MATHEMATICS ASSESSMENT EXAMS TO STUDENTS IN ALL GRADES, WITH 
THE EXCEPTION OF KINDERGARTEN, WHICH WAS ONLY GIVEN THE SECOND AND 
THIRD ASSESSMENT. 

i-Ready Diagnostic describes4 its services for math as an effective, research-based, web-based 
diagnostic assessment for students in grades K–12. Using a compatible computer with internet 
access and a headset, students take the online Diagnostic that assesses overall performance and 
sub-skill levels. i-Ready’s sophisticated computer adaptive algorithms ensure learners are assessed 
efficiently across a number of knowledge domains. The questioning format adapts as students 
respond to each question—getting more or less challenging as needed—to complete the diagnosis 
and identify each child’s performance level. The adaptive nature of the assessment meets students 
at their own skill level, so they experience success as well as challenge while i-Ready accurately 
measures their mastery of New York State Learning Standards. 

i-Ready includes a powerful management and reporting suite for delivery of essential performance 
information at the district, school, class, and student/group levels. Actionable, real-time reports 
guide educators in identifying the instructional needs and abilities of individual students and 

4 http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/iready-slo-assessment-form-c-and-h.pdf. 
18 
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instructional groups, and also include explicit next steps for remediating areas of academic 
weakness. 

The i-Ready Diagnostic is strongly aligned to the New York State Learning Standards for math. 
The independent Educational Research Institute of America conducted a research study evaluating 
the relationship between i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State end-of-year 
assessments. The research found a high correlation between i-Ready Diagnostic and the New York 
State assessments. i-Ready was also shown to accurately predict end-of-year proficiency rates 
based on students' fall, winter, and spring Diagnostic performance. The strong correlations 
between the spring i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State assessments—with overall 
correlations of .84 for mathematics for all students across grades 3–8—exceed the Center on 
Response to Intervention's recommended .70 threshold for correlations.  Curriculum Associates 
partnered with leading academics to develop a regression-based model for predicting New York 
State Assessment proficiency rates. i-Ready proficiency prediction from fall, winter, and spring 
Diagnostic results proved to be highly accurate and remarkably consistent with observed (actual) 
NYSTP proficiency rates— often within one percent of observed proficiency for the sample. Plus, 
i-Ready accurately identified individual student needs on the standards to drive targeted 
instruction—both student- and teacher-led. 

Summary of the school’s modality changes during 2020-21: Similar to many NYC charter 
schools, Merrick Academy’s program was fully remote in 2020-21. However, we did open a 
Learning Center at our building with “student pods” run by operational staff to support our highest 
need students, such as those living in temporary housing, requiring child care as their parents were 
essential workers, students who did not have a parent at home that spoke English and could 
effectively support them in completing remote instruction; and, high need special education 
students, often those who required a 1:1 paraprofessional as mandated by their Individualized 
Education Plans. The Learning Center opened in December 2020 and served 120 students through 
June 2021. 

The school’s remote schedule offered professional development for teachers every Wednesday 
afternoon for 3 hours. The professional development provided was led by the CAO/Principal, 
Assistant Principal of Mathematics, Assistant Principal of ELA, and the Director of Student 
Support Services. The Director of Student Support Services is responsible for social emotional 
learning at Merrick and manages special education and supports students who are below grade 
level. Professional development was also provided by an ELA consultant, Math consultant, DEIA 
consultant, STEAM consultant and ANet, who provided data training to teachers. 

The school also served 270 students during a summer program, which was 50% academically 
focused and both prioritized students whose i-Ready results indicated they were below grade level 
and included emerging kindergarten students. The summer program was run and operated by the 
school, to ensure health and safety protocol were followed. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

End of Year Performance on 2020-21 i-Ready Mathematics Assessment 
By All Students and Students Enrolled in At Least Their Second Year 

19 





  

 

 

 
 

  
 
 

  
  

     

  
 

 
 

   
  

 
 
 
 

  
  

  
  

   
   

   
 
 
 

   
 

  
 

 
  

   
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

November 15. Couple these changes in i-Ready assessment analysis with the shifting learning 
models students have been subjected to during COVID-19, it could logically be expected that the 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level on the fall mathematics assessment 
would have been higher in the pre-COVID 2019-20 school year compared to the fall 2020-21 
assessment. However, except for Merrick Academy’s 5th grade, which had the same percentage 
of students performing at or above grade level in the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years, each grade 
level tested on the fall 2020-21 mathematics assessment had a higher percentage of students 
performing at or above grade level compared to the fall assessment administered in the 2019-20 
school year. Impressively, Merrick Academy’s 1st and 2nd grade had a higher percentage of 
students performing at or above grade level, 24- and 20-percentage-points respectively, compared 
to the 1st and 2nd grade in the 2019-20 school year. 

Similarly, except for the school’s 4th grade, the percentage of Merrick Academy students 
performing at or above grade level on the winter i-Ready mathematics assessment was higher in 
the 2020-21 school year compared to the 2019-20 school year. Like the 2019-20 school year fall 
assessment, the 2019-20 winter assessment was unaffected by COVID-19, as the school’s 
transformation to remote learning post-dates the end of the winter norming window. The most 
impressive growth on the winter assessment occurred in kindergarten, where the percentage of 
students performing at or above grade level between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years grew 
by 70-percentage points. Also impressive was the results among the school’s 1st and 2nd grades, 
where there was a 24- and 15-percentage point increase, respectively, in the percentage of students 
performing at or above grade level on the winter assessment. 

When assessing longitudinal growth, each cohort of students who took the fall mathematics 
assessment in the 2019-20 school year showed growth when they took the fall assessment the next 
grade level up in the 2020-21 school year. The cohort showing the largest increase in the 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school 
years was the cohort who took the fall mathematics assessment as 2nd graders in the 2020-21 
school year. From the 2019-20 school year, when they took the fall mathematics assessment as 1st 
graders to the 2020-21 school year, when they took the fall assessment as 2nd graders, the 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level in this cohort increased 19-percentage 
points. There was also significant longitudinal growth among the cohort of students who took the 
fall mathematics assessment as 2nd, 3rd, and 4th graders in 2019-20 when they took the assessment 
as 3rd, 4th, and 5th graders in 2020-21, a four-percentage point improvement among each cohort 
of students. 

On the winter mathematics i-Ready assessment, there was longitudinal growth at each measurable 
grade, except for the cohort of students who took the winter assessment as 2nd graders in the 2019-
20 school year when they took the assessment as 3rd graders in the 2020-21 school year. The 
greatest longitudinal increase among student cohorts between the i-Ready winter 2019-20 
assessment and the 2020-21 assessment occurred in the cohorts of students who took the 2019-20 
winter assessment as kindergarteners and 1st graders when they took the winter mathematics 
assessment as first and second graders in the 2020-21 school year, a 15-percentage point increase. 
Similarly impressive growth occurred among the cohort of students who took the winter 
assessment as 3rd grade students in the 2019-20 school year when they took the assessment as 4th 
grade students in the 2020-21 school year, as well as among the cohort of students who took the 
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tables-K-8-2020.pdf. In other words, the norms that are now being used to assess student 
achievement do not take into consideration the disruption in the traditional learning model most 
students in this country have experienced during the last 18-months. In fact, the norms used this 
year are more stringent than those used for the 2019-20 school year, resulting in students being 
expected to achieve at a higher level, while having experienced 18-months of academic disruption 
because of COVID-19. 

Merrick Academy had one Math coach in 2019-20, who was terminated after the 2019-20 school 
year due to budget constraints, requiring a heavier lift for our Assistant Principal responsible for 
Math. The school, reconsidering the need of coaches, has hired an ELA and a Math coach for 
2021-2022. 

SUMMARY OF THE ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE MATHEMATICS GOAL 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick did not meet its mathematics assessment goals. However, 
given the ongoing pandemic and the impact it has had on academic achievement, particularly 
among the student population that Merrick serves, the school’s mathematics assessment results 
should be considered satisfactory. As described in detail in the action plan below, we intend to 
close the achievement gaps created by the pandemic, so long as we are able to maintain in in-
person learning for the entirety of the 2021-22 school year. 

2020-21 i-Ready Mathematics Assessment End of Year Results 

Measure Subgroup Targe 
t 

Teste 
d 

Result 
s Met? 

Measure 1: Each year, the school’s median 
percent progress to Annual Typical Growth 
of 3rd through 8th grade students will be 
equal to or greater than 100%.  

All 
students 100% 254 50% No 

Measure 2: Each year, the school’s median 
percent progress to Annual Typical Growth 
of all 3rd through 8th grade students who 
were two or more grade levels below grade 
level in the fall will be equal to or greater 
than 110% by the spring assessment 
administration. 
Measure 3: Each year, the median percent 
progress to Annual Typical Growth of 
3rd through 8th grade students with 
disabilities at the school will be equal to or 

Low initial 
achievers 

Students 
with 

disabilities 
5 

110% 

57%6 

254 

66 

42% 

34.5% 

No 

No 

5 Schools may elect to report the aggregated data for a different subpopulation of students if the total tested 
number of students with disabilities is 5 or fewer, or if the school’s mission aligns to serving a different specific 
subpopulation.  For schools that choose a different subpopulation (e.g. English language learners, homeless 
students, etc.), please explain the rationale in the narrative section 
6 Target should reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth for all general education students. 
In the case that the school elects to measure the achievement of a different subpopulation, the target should 
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greater than the median percent progress to 
Annual Typical Growth of 3rd through 8th 

grade general education students at the 
school. 
Measure 4: Each year, 75% of 3rd through 
8th grade students enrolled in at least their 
second year at the school will score at 
the mid on-grade level or above scale score 
for the year-end assessment. 

2+ students 75% 228 22.4% No 

ACTION PLAN 

The School will be implementing the following initiatives during the 2021-22 school year to 
improve student achievement in math: The core beliefs under-pinning our academic planning for 
our post-pandemic return include, but are not limited to: 

● We teach every student grade-level content standards and we meet students where they 
are; 

● Our programs and offerings are responsive to the most current and accurate data; 
● We must intentionally plan to “teach and insist”. Teachers and leaders need high-quality, 

aligned, and consistent training and support in order to deliver on a robust plan for 
unfinished learning and grade level learning; 

● We believe that the whole community will work together to help our students grow; 
● Strengthening and aligning our current resources and building more effective and 

consistent systems and processes that lead to teacher, leader, and student achievement; 
and 

● We believe that accomplishing our goals requires intentionality in a way that allows us to 
approach academics in a tiered and purposeful plan that closes gaps and keeps us on track 
for long term goals. 

Our theory of action, which is based on research, case studies, school visits, and interrogations, is 
simple: If we deliver rigorous on grade-level instruction, and we create the structures necessary 
to execute on impactful remediation and acceleration and we build teacher and leader content 
knowledge and capacity to provide effective instruction, Then: 

● Students will continue to build content knowledge on grade-level standards while 
simultaneously receiving academic intervention support to close foundational learning 
gaps and make up for unfinished learning; and 

● Our staff and school community will have the tools, knowledge, experiences, and 
resources necessary to execute our school’s instructional vision (short-term and long 
term). 

reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth of all students at the school not included in that 
subpopulation. 
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In order to address unfinished learning among our students, we will implement the following 
acceleration, remediation, and enrichment strategies: 

● Deliver Strong Tier I instruction: 

1. Strong instructional delivery of grade level content through effective 
execution of the new curriculum. 

● Acceleration Blocks 

1. Daily 40-minute small-group instruction targeted toward accelerating core 
foundational skills in literacy and/or Math; 

2. Classrooms and class structures that include daily Tier 2 strategies to 
address foundational skills acceleration. (Targeted smaller groups); 

3. Extend and reorganize math and literacy blocks to include time for 
intentional spiraling of unfinished content into grade level content and 
delivery; 

4. Internalize and implement Daily Execution Protocol for Math Block; and 
5. Reorganizing Math and ELA curriculum scope and sequence charts to 

ensure the efficacy and efficiency of the delivery of unfinished learning 
strategies as well as grade level content. 

● Strong Start (Phase I and II) 

1. “All hands on deck” approach gathering both summative and formative 
data for students; 

2. Implement new Student Information System(s) to efficiently and 
effectively house and communicate student data; 

3. Community urgency and celebrations that center progress and excitement 
instead of “loss” or “being in deficit”; 

4. Update and beautify hallways, classrooms, and common areas to build 
excitement and support immersion. 

● Ongoing Implementation and monitoring of RTI 

1. Conduct weekly meetings with consistency and fidelity and communicate 
clear strategies and next steps for all stakeholders; 

2. Alignment of interventions to students’ specific gaps; 
3. RTI/MTSS materials archived: calendar, meeting notes; 
4. Instructional leaders engage in RTI walkthroughs to monitor and Tier 1, 2, 

and 3 interventions; 
5. Restructuring of our 40-minute academic support block to “Student 

Learning Lab.” A Student Learning Lab is an intervention block where 
scholars receive support based on the area of need. AIS providers will also 
push in during this time; and 
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6. Including “High dosage tutoring” for our students who are most 
academically at-risk. Examples include after school at least 3 times a week 
3:30 pm -5:30 pm and Saturday school 9 am-12pm. 

Please see Academic Intervention slides provided above for ELA, that describes Merrick’s 
approach to high-dosage tutoring. 

For math, the curriculum and time planned for students at-risk of meeting standards is the 
following: 

● Zearn 

● Up to 90 minutes a week for at-risk/qualifying students 

● Data Cycles 

1. Proactively monitor and respond to data: 
a. Student Individual Learner Profiles and on-going use and 

ownership of the plans; 
b. Daily exit tickets and debriefs; and 
c. Strengthening our data cycle system of reporting to ensure that 

teachers have a deeper and better view of their students’ growth on 
a dashboard and/or digital binders that teachers can easily access. 

● Building Teacher and Leader Capacity and Accountability 

1. Instructional Leaders engage in RTI walk throughs to monitor Tier 1, 2, 
and 3 interventions. 

2. Time in weekly “Learning Lab” for check-ins on strategies and results of 
students in Tier 1 and Tier 2 

3. “Front loading” professional development for teachers on key instructional 
strategies for Tier 1 and Tier 2 during Pre-Service as they are planning for 
initial grade-level curricular units. Revamping and archiving observation 
and feedback protocols and tools, lesson plans, and trackers to specifically 
monitor progress in this area and provide stronger opportunities for 
coaching and professional development. 

Strategic Approach for Content Knowledge Building and Implementation of New 
Curriculum 

● Accelerated Implementation of a researched based curriculum 
1. Development of an implementation plan that is designed  for effective 

internalization, delivery, and high-level implementation that garners 
student growth and achievement. Including immersion, implementation, 
reshaping to meet needs, etc.; 
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2. Implementing a curriculum pacing and implementation tracker that is 
aligned and housed alongside curriculum maps, professional development 
calendar, assessments. Flow of the Day; and 

3. Intentionality with informational and professional development events to 
get student, teacher and family buy-in, support and feedback. 

● Teacher and Leader Development and Capacity Building 

1. Weekly Learning Labs (Lesson Learning Lab Model) for teachers that 
include: check-ins on pacing, understanding, peer and expert feedback, 
planning and practice for teachers; 

2. Bi-weekly professional development in key teacher and leader actions that 
lead to successful implementation of curriculum while building content 
knowledge and high leverage teacher/classroom strategies; 

3. Bi-weekly one-on-one coaching sessions that ensure that teachers get 
feedback in aligned areas of instruction. Coaching and Feedback Cycle 
AP and Coach Meeting Protocol; 

4. Regular teacher step-backs and data days where teachers receive 
professional development in key areas of growth for their students while 
creating action-plans; 

5. Tiered professional development that is responsive to teacher and leader 
needs. Arc of the Year (PD); and 

6. Clearer alignment and coherence of the tools leaders use to provide 
feedback and support. (Get Better Faster and Instructional Practice Guide 
rubrics IPG). 

7. Merrick Academy had one Math coach in 2019-20, which the school was 
able to retain after the 2019-20 school year due to budget constraints, 
requiring a heavier lift for our Assistant Principal responsible for Math. The 
school, reconsidering the need of coaches, has hired a Math coach for 2021-
2022. 

● Strong Start 

1. “All hands on deck” approach to building routines and rituals that build 
Socio-emotional learning through strong academic practices; and 

2. “Teach and Insist”-after diagnostics jump right into grade level curriculum 
with clear plans for spiraling in cumulative review. 

● Departmentalization in the testing grades to allow teachers to focus more on 
content area depth and breathe 

● Strengthening and streamlining data cycles 

1. Streamlining PD calendar, timely data distribution and support for 
teachers, assessment calendar and data meetings. 
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● Strengthening community investment and knowledge of what is being taught 
and why. 

1. Develop and implement a Communication Plan that organizes and 
captures key communication strategies in order to improve transparency 
about the Teaching and Learning Cycles, communicate progress, celebrate 
community, and on-going feedback on the impact of the program 

GOAL 3: SCIENCE 

ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE SCIENCE 

Goal 3: Science 
All students at the School will demonstrate competency in the understanding and application of 
scientific reasoning. 

BACKGROUND 

Merrick Academy’s science curriculum is rooted in the following principles: 

1. Inquiry-based 
2. STEAM Literacy 
3. Spiraled and interdisciplinary 
4. Developing curiosity through the world around us 
5. Using data and evidence to make claims based on relevant learning experiences 

The science curriculum provides authentic learning opportunities fueled by scholar curiosity and 
the scientific method. Students learn about the key scientific principles through inquiry, reading, 
writing, and mathematical concepts. Students make connections with what they are discovering 
to other subject areas. The curriculum spirals and builds upon content as the students move on to 
different grade levels at the school. 

METHOD 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. Merrick did administer the NYS Science Assessment. However, having been remote all 
year, there was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet 
available. 
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ADDITIONAL CONTEXT AND EVIDENCE 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. 

SUMMARY OF THE ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE SCIENCE GOAL 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. Merrick did administer the NYS Science Assessment. However, having been remote all 
year, there was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet 
available. 

ACTION PLAN 

Merrick Academy is committed to student achievement in science, as most recently evidenced by 
the renewal of the school’s charter in June 2020 and incorporating a STEAM focus into its 
mission for the next five years, with dedicated STEAM blocks built into the 2021-22 school 
schedule. In the 2020-21 school year, steps towards this mission will include science infused into 
mathematics and humanities instruction and the addition of a STEAM expert consultant, who 
will, in particular, train the Science Teacher, and who will oversee the program. 

GOAL 4: ESSA 
Due to COVID-19 and the subsequent changes to the state’s testing, accountability, and federal 
reporting requirements, the 2020-21 school accountability statuses are the same as those assigned 
for the 2019-20 school year. The 2019-20 accountability statuses were based on 2018-19 exam 
results.  Assigned accountability designations and further context can be found here. 

Goal 7: Absolute Measure 
Under the state’s ESSA accountability system, the school is in good standing:  the state has not 
identified the school for comprehensive or targeted improvement. 

METHOD 

Because all students are expected to meet the state's performance standards, the federal statute 
stipulates that various sub-populations and demographic categories of students among all tested 
students must meet the state standard in and of themselves aside from the overall school results. 
As New York State, like all states, is required to establish a specific system for making these 
determinations for its public schools, charter schools do not have latitude in establishing their 
own performance levels or criteria of success for meeting the ESSA accountability requirements.  
Each year, the state issues School Report Cards that indicate a school’s status under the state 
accountability system. 
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RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

Merrick Academy was in good standing pursuant to the state’s ESSA accountability system in 
the 2020-21 school year. 

ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE 

The School has been in good standing for the past three school years. 

Accountability Status by Year 
Year Status 

2018-19 Good standing 
2019-20 Good standing 
2020-21 Good standing 
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MERRICK ACADEMY - QUEENS PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Financial Position 

as of June 30, 2021 

ASSETS 2020-21 2019-20 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents  $  3,213,225  $  2,562,862 
Grants and contracts receivable 24,425 173,156 
Accounts receivables - -
Prepaid expenses                               102,243                                    101,440 
Contributions and other receivables                                             -                                                 - 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS                            3,339,893                                2,837,458 

PROPERTY, BUILDING AND EQUIPMENT, net                            1,062,536                                    715,954 

OTHER ASSETS                               127,770                                    127,770 

TOTAL ASSETS 4,530,199 3,681,182 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  $  294,940  $  157,012 
Accrued payroll and benefits                               792,927                                    752,002 
Deferred Revenue                                    9,306                                      25,223 
Current maturities of long-term debt                                             -                                                 - 
Short Term Debt - Bonds, Notes Payable                                             -                                    459,518 
Other                                             -                                                 - 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES                            1,097,173                                1,393,755 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
Deferred Rent                               126,505                                    184,877 
All other long-term debt and notes payable, net current maturities                                             -                                    737,015 

TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES                               126,505                                    921,892 

TOTAL LIABILITIES                            1,223,678                                2,315,647 

NET ASSETS 
Without Donor Restrictions                            3,306,521                                1,365,535 
With Donor Ristrictions                                             -                                                 - 

TOTAL NET ASSETS                            3,306,521                                1,365,535 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET 
ASSETS                            4,530,199                                3,681,182 

CK - Should be zero - -



   

              

     
          
     
               

                                

                                 

                                     
       

                                       
                                       

 
                                 

    
         
                    

              
               
                    

  

 

            

MERRICK ACADEMY - QUEENS PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Activities 

as of June 30, 2021 

Without Donor 
Restrictions 

2020-21 
With Donor 
Restrictions  Total 

2019-20 

 Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 
Public School District

 Resident Student Enrollment 
 Students with disabilities

Grants and Contracts
 State and local 
 Federal - Title and IDEA 
 Federal - Other 
 Other 

NYC DoE Rental Assistance
Food Service/Child Nutrition Program

TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT 

EXPENSES 
Program Services

 Regular Education 
 Special Education 
 Other Programs

Total Program Services
Management and general
Fundraising

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS 

SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 
Contributions

 Foundations
 Individuals 
 Corporations 

Fundraising
Interest income
Miscellaneous income
Net assets released from restriction

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 

NET ASSETS BEGINNING OF YEAR
PRIOR YEAR/PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS

NET ASSETS END OF YEAR 

 $        

 $  

 $  

 $  

     9,534,157 
                1,514,496 

                                 - 
                    330,704 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

              11,379,357 

5,769,702 
3,371,092 

                                 - 
                9,140,794 
                1,552,187 
                                 -
              10,692,981 

                    686,376 

-
                                 - 
                      49,458 
                                 -
                           177 
                1,204,975 
                                 - 
                1,254,610 

                1,940,986 

                1,365,535 
                                 - 

3,306,521 

 $  

 $                      

 $  

 $  

- 
                                 -

                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

- 

        - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

            - 
            - 

                                 - 
- 

                                 - 

-
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 -
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 
                                 - 

                                 - 

                                 - 
                                 - 

- 

 $  

 $  

 $  

 $  

9,534,157 
                1,514,496 

                                 - 
                    330,704 
                                 - 
                                 - 

 - 
                                 - 

              11,379,357 

5,769,702 
                3,371,092 
                                 - 
                9,140,794 
                1,552,187 
                                 - 
              10,692,981 

                    686,376 

-
                                 - 
                      49,458 
                                 -
                           177 
                1,204,975 
                                 - 

              1,254,610 

               1,940,986 

                1,365,535 
                                 - 

3,306,521 

 $            

 $                      

 $          

 $  

               8,803,300 
                  1,479,114 

                                          - 
                        231,169 

                                          - 
                                - 

                                               - 
                                               - 

                            10,513,583 

     5,916,097 
         2,739,896 

                                         - 
            8,655,993 
            1,603,612 

                                               - 
                            10,259,605 

                                  253,978 

                                  - 
                                      - 

                           - 
                                    - 

                          288 
                31,996 

                                               - 
                                    32,284 

                                  286,262 

                  1,079,273 
                                               - 

1,365,535 



                                                                                                       
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                                                          
                                                                                                      
                                                                                                      
                                     

                                  
                      

 
 

                 

  

 
  
 

                               

MERRICK ACADEMY - QUEENS PUBLIC CHARTER SCHOOL 
Statement of Cash Flows 

as of June 30, 2021 

2020-21 2019-20 

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Increase (decrease) in net assets  $  1,940,986  $  286,262 
Revenues from School Districts - -
Accounts Receivable - -
Due from School Districts - -
Depreciation 398,969 322,613 
Grants Receivable - -
Due from NYS - -
Grant revenues 108,983                                         66,400 
Prepaid Expenses                                             (803)                                        (18,084) 
Accounts Payable                                         81,456                                        (37,635) 
Accrued Expenses                                         40,925                                        (25,259) 
Accrued Liabilities                                                     -                                                     - 
Contributions and fund-raising activities                                                     -                     -
Miscellaneous sources                  (58,372)                                        (36,698) 
Deferred Revenue                                        (15,917)                                         25,223 
Interest payments                                            8,442                                                     -
Bad Debt                                         39,748                                                     -
Forgiveness of Loan                  (1,204,975)                                                     -

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  $  1,339,442  $  582,822 

CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of equipment                                     (689,079)                                     (245,557) 
Other                                                     -                                                     -

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  $  (689,079)  $  (245,557) 

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Principal payments on long-term debt                                                     -                                    1,196,533 
Other                                                     -                                                     -

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  $  -  $  1,196,533 

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  $  650,363  $  1,533,798 
Cash at beginning of year     2,562,862                                    1,029,064 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  $  3,213,225  $  2,562,862 
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Committees (e.g. 
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Nicole C. Blair-Barzey Trustee Academic Committee, 
Executive Committee 

Stephanie Mauterstock has served as the Executive Director since July 20, 2020. 
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SCHOOL OVERVIEW 
The State University of New York Board of Trustees approved the Merrick Academy – Queens 
Public Charter School (Merrick Academy or the School) in June of 2000. Located in Community 
School District 29 in Queens Village, New York City, the School opened in September 2000, with 
an enrollment of 121 students in grades K – 2. In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy had 
an enrollment of 575-585 kindergarten through fifth grade students. 

Our mission: Merrick Academy is a STEAM based school that cultivates critical thinking, 
problem solving and inquiry amongst all learners in an environment that provides extensive 
whole-child support based on ensuring equity and empowerment for all learners through 
effective and innovative approaches to teaching and learning fostered by a world class faculty. 
Merrick Academy recognizes that in order to be successful, our children need support from both 
the home and school. We know a strong partnership with parents will make a great difference in a 
child’s education. As partners, we at Merrick Academy, share the responsibility for our children’s 
success and want all stakeholders to know that we will do our very best to carry out our 
responsibilities. 

We, at Merrick Academy, pursue excellence in our all-inclusive learning community of students, 
educators, parents and community members. We work towards the common purpose of providing 
an excellent educational experience for all students. Through our high degree of individualized 
instruction, increased time on the task of learning, and innovative academic curriculum, we will 
ensure that all of our students are college and career ready. 

Overall, Merrick Academy’s motto “in pursuit of excellence” is a constant reminder of the 
expectations we set for our learning community. 

The focus of the Merrick Academy is on the core skills of reading, language, and mathematics. 
Merrick Academy is organized to provide an extended day, a high degree of individualized 
instruction, and an innovative research-based academic curriculum. 

ENROLLMENT SUMMARY 

School Enrollment by Grade Level and School Year 
School 
Year 

K 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

2016-17 79 112 83 83 112 84 1 
(UGE) 

554 

2017-18 82 79 109 90 90 103 N/A 553 

2018-19 98 83 80 97 79 86 N/A 523 

2019-20 80 107 88 83 98 82 N/A 538 

2020-21 94 103 117 97 87 101 N/A 599 
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GOAL 1: ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS 
ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE ENGLISH LANGUAGE ARTS 

Goal 1: English Language Arts 
All students enrolled in the Merrick Academy-Queens Public Charter School will become proficient 
in reading and writing the English language. 

BACKGROUND 

Merrick Academy has a literacy rich design where reading and writing exist in every subject area. 
There are authentic texts and opportunities to read. All are reading with purpose and making 
connections to self, the community, and the world. All are making connections across content 
areas. 

The School’s ELA curriculum is rooted in the following principles: 

1. Read and Write Critically- summarize, interpret, critique, and make connections across all 
disciplines by reading and writing in response to informational, technical, and fictional 
texts 

2. Engage the Writer’s Process 
3. Construct logical arguments that utilize evidence from multiple points of view 4. Speak 
with confidence, clarity, and discernment about a wide range of topics  demonstrating the use 
of effective research techniques with various pieces of media and a  synthesis of the 
information 
5. Listen to others and be able to break down what is said to either critique, questioning 

and/or  challenges by providing logical explanation or refutation 
6. Identify and convey a strong understanding of the interconnectedness between themes, 

genres and central ideas 
7. Demonstrate knowledge of the difference between writing informally and formally by 

selecting appropriate styles, expressions, and vocabulary 

The ELA curriculum relies on a balanced literacy approach that incorporates authentic texts, 
guided reading, centers, independent reading, and writing. In grades K-2, students learn 
handwriting, phonemic awareness, concepts about print, and phonics. 

Summary of the school’s modality changes during 2020-21: Similar to many NYC charter 
schools, Merrick Academy’s program was fully remote in 2020-21. However, we did open a 
Learning Center at our building with “student pods” run by operational staff to support our 
highest need students, such as those living in temporary housing, requiring child care as their 
parents were essential workers, students who did not have a parent at home that spoke English 
and could not effectively support them in completing remote instruction; and, high need special 
education students, often those who required a 1:1 paraprofessional as mandated by their 
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Individualized Education Plans. The Learning Center opened in December 2020 and served 120 
students through  June 2021. 
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The school’s remote schedule offered professional development for teachers every Wednesday 
afternoon for 3 hours. The professional development provided was led by the CAO/Principal, 
Assistant Principal of Mathematics, Assistant Principal of ELA, and the Director of Student 
Support Services. The Director of Student Support Services is responsible for social-emotional 
learning at Merrick and manages special education and supports students who are below grade 
level. Professional development was also provided by an ELA consultant, Math consultant, DEIA 
consultant, STEAM consultant, and ANet, who provided data training to teachers. 

The school also served 270 students during a summer program, which was 50% academically 
focused and both prioritized students whose i-Ready results indicated they were below grade 
level and included emerging kindergarten students. The summer program was run and operated 
by the  school, to ensure health and safety protocols were followed. 

METHOD 

During 2020-21, the school(s) primarily used the following exam to assess student growth and 
achievement in ELA: i-Ready 

Merrick Academy administers three i-Ready assessments to monitor students’ performance in 
English language arts each academic year. Without NYS assessment data to assess the school’s 
progress against our charter approved accountability goals, and with i-Ready’s research- proved 
alignment to NYS standards, Merrick Academy used the i-Ready results to assess and evaluate 
student achievement for the 2020-21 school year. 

i-Ready Diagnostic describes1its services for reading/ELA as an effective, research-based, web 
based diagnostic assessment for students in grades K–12. Using a compatible computer with 
internet access and a headset, students take the online Diagnostic that assesses performance 
overall and down to the sub-skill level. i-Ready’s sophisticated computer adaptive algorithms 
ensure learners are assessed efficiently across a number of knowledge domains. The questioning 
format adapts as students respond to each question—getting challenging as needed—to complete 
the diagnosis and identify each child’s performance level. The adaptive nature of the assessment 
meets students at their own skill level, so they experience success as well as challenge while 
i-Ready accurately measures their mastery of New York State Learning Standards. 

i-Ready includes a powerful management and reporting suite for delivery of essential 
performance information at the school, class, and student/group levels. Actionable, real-time 
reports guide educators in identifying the instructional needs and abilities of individual students 
and instructional groups, and also include explicit next steps for remediating areas of academic 
weakness. 
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i-Ready Diagnostic is strongly aligned to the New York State Learning Standards for ELA. The 
independent Educational Research Institute of America conducted a research study evaluating the 
relationship between i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State end-of-year assessments. 
The research found a high correlation between i-Ready Diagnostic and the New York State 

1 http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/iready-slo-assessment-form-c-and-h.pdf. 
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assessments. i-Ready was also shown to accurately predict end-of-year proficiency rates based on 
students' fall, winter, and spring Diagnostic performance. The strong correlations between the 
spring i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State assessments—with overall correlations 
of .81 for ELA for all students across grades 3–8—exceed the Center on Response to 
Intervention's recommended .70 threshold for correlations. Additionally, Curriculum Associates 
partnered with leading academics to develop a regression-based model for predicting New York 
State Assessment proficiency rates. i-Ready proficiency prediction from fall, winter, and spring 
Diagnostic results proved to be highly accurate and remarkably consistent with observed (actual) 
NYSTP proficiency rates— often within one percent of observed proficiency for the sample. 
Plus, i-Ready accurately identified individual student needs on the standards to drive targeted 
instruction—both student and teacher-led. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATIONMNA 

End of Year Performance on 2020-21 i-Ready ELA Assessment 
By All Students and Students Enrolled in At Least Their Second Year 

Goal: 75% of all 3 -8 Grade Students Enrolled for 2 Years will Perform At of Above Grade 
Level 

Grades All Students Enrolled in at least their 
Second Year 

Percent 
Mid On 
Grade 

Level or 
Above 

Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Mid-On 

Grade 
Level  or 
Above 

Number 
Tested 

3 36% 85 40.3% 72 

4 27% 85 29.7% 74 

5 21% 95 21.6% 88 

All 28% 265 29.9% 234 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its absolute measure of 75% of 3rd 

http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/iready-slo-assessment-form-c-and-h.pdf


through 5th grade students enrolled in at least their second year at the school performing at or 
above grade level standards on the English language arts assessment. Overall, nearly 30% of 
students enrolled at the school for two or more years performed at or above grade level on the i 
Ready spring English language arts assessment, almost two percentage points above the school 
average for all 3rd through 5th grade students. 

Merrick Academy’s 3rd grade had the highest percentage of students attending the school for two 
or more years performing at or above grade level on the i-Ready spring English language arts 
assessment. Third grade students enrolled at the school for at least two years had a higher 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level compared to all 3rd grade, 40.3% 
compared to 36%. This trend of students enrolled at the school for at least two years having a 
higher percentage of students performing at or above grade level on the i-Ready English language 
arts spring assessment continued at the 4th and 5th grades. 
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Percentage of Merrick Academy Students Performing at 
Mid/Above Level on the i-Ready English Language Arts Assessments 

2019-20 2020-21 

Grade Assessme 
nt 1 

Assessme 
nt 2 

Assessme 
nt 3 

Assessme 
nt 1 

Assessme 
nt 2 

Assessme 
nt 3 

K N/A 25% 89% N/A 58% 74% 

1st 10% 27% 77% 34% 47% 49% 

2nd 8% 21% 52% 27% 44% 42% 

3rd 9% 18% 50% 17% 27% 36% 

4th 13% 31% 50% 10% 18% 27% 

5th 9% 14% 21% 13% 22% 21% 

Comparing the results of the 2019-20 school year English language arts i-Ready assessments to 
the 2020-21 assessments yields several interesting results. First, as discussed in detail below, i 
Ready updated their national norms in August 2020, resulting in students needing to score higher 
on the 2020-21 assessments to be considered at or above grade level compared to previous years. 
Also, in the 2020-21 school year, i-Ready’s fall norming window was moved up from the 
beginning of the school year through November 30 to the beginning of the school year through 
November 15. Couple these changes in i-Ready assessment analysis with the shifting learning 
models students have been subjected to during COVID-19, it could logically be expected that the 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level on the fall English language arts 
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assessment would have been higher in the pre-COVID 2019-20 school year compared to the fall 
2020-21 assessment. However, with the exception of Merrick Academy’s 4th grade, each grade 
level tested on the fall 2020-21 i-Ready English language arts assessment had a higher percentage 
of students performing at or above grade level compared to the fall assessment administered in 
the 2019-20 school year. Impressively, Merrick Academy’s 1st and 2nd grade had a higher 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level, 24- and 19-percentage-points 
respectively,  compared to the 1st and 2nd grade in the 2019-20 school year. 

Similarly, again with the exception of the school’s 4th grade, the percentage of Merrick Academy 
students performing at or above grade level on the winter i-Ready English language arts 
assessment was higher in the 2020-21 school year compared to the 2019-20 school year. Like the 
2019-20 school year fall assessment, the 2019-20 winter assessment was unaffected by COVID, 
as the school’s transformation to remote learning post-datesthe end of the winter norming 
window. The most impressive growth on the winter assessment occurred among kindergarten 
students, who more than doubled the percentage of students performing at or above grade level 
between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years. Also impressive was the results among the 
school’s 1st and 2nd grades, where there was a 20- and 24- percentage point increase, 
respectively, in the percentage of students performing at or above grade level on the winter 
assessment between the  2019-20 and 2020-21 school years. 

When assessing longitudinal growth, Merrick Academy has impressive results over the past two 
school years. The cohort of students who took the fall English language arts assessment as 1st 
graders in the 2019-20 school year had a higher percentage of students performing at or above 
grade level, 17-percentage-points, when they took the fall assessment as 2nd graders in the 2020-
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21 school year. There was also longitudinal growth among the cohort of students who took the 
fall English language arts assessment as 2nd graders in 2019-20 when they took the assessment as 
3rd graders in 2020-21, nine-percentage-points, a one point improvement in the cohort of students 
who took the fall English language arts assessment as 3rd graders in the 2019-20 school year 
when they took the exam as fourth graders in the 2020-21 school year, and no change in the 
percentage of students achieving proficiency among the cohort of students who took the 
assessment as fourth grade students in the 2019-20 school year, when they took the assessment in 
the fall of the 2020-
21 school year as 5th grade students. 

On the winter English language arts i-Ready assessment, there was longitudinal growth at each 
measurable grade, except for the cohort of students who took the winter assessment as 4th graders 
in the 2019-20 school year when they took the assessment as 5th graders in the 2020-21 school 
year. The greatest longitudinal increase among student cohorts between the i-Ready winter 2019-
20 assessment and the 2020-21 assessment occurred in the cohort of students who took the 2019-
20 winter assessment as kindergarteners when they took the winter English language arts exam as 
first graders in the 2020-21 school year. Impressively, similar growth occurred among the cohort 
of students who took the winter assessment as 1st grade students in the 2019-20 school year when 
they took the assessment as 2nd grade students in the 2020-21 school year, as well as among the 
cohort of students who took the assessment as 2nd graders in the 2019-20 school year when they 
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took the assessment as 3rd grade students in the 2020-21 school year. 

End of Year Growth on 2020-21 i-Ready ELA Assessment 
By All Students 

Goal: Students will grow at a normed rate according to beginning of the year baseline score 
(Median Percent Annual Growth of 100% or more) 

Grade 
s 

Median 
Percent  of 

Annual 
Typical Growth 

Number 
Tested 

3 118% 85 

4 76% 85 

5 35% 95 

All 79% 265 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its growth goal of all 3rd through 
5th grade students growing at a median percent annual growth of 100% or more. The only 
individual grade to meet this goal was the school’s 3rd grade, where the median percent of annual 
typical growth among all tested students was 118%, exceeding the goal by 18-percentage points. 
The school’s 4th grade missed this growth goal by 24-percentage points and the 5th grade missed 
the goal by 65 percentage points. As a whole, the school’s 3rd through 5th grade missed the growth 
goal by 21 percentage points. 

Median Annual Typical Growth Percentage on 
i Ready Spring Reading Diagnostic 

Goal: Growth of students with low initial 
absolute achievement is greater than the target, 

median percent annual growth of 110% or 
more. 
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Grade Level 2020-2021 

3rd 145% 

4th 118% 

5th 0% 

Total 101.5% 
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In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its growth goal of all 3rd through 
5th grade students with low initial absolute achievement attaining a median percent annual 
growth of 110% or more on the spring assessment. Although the school did not meet the overall 
goal, both the 3rd and 4th grades exceeded this growth goal, by 35 and eight percentage points, 
respectively. In fact, despite the 5th grade’s median percent annual growth of zero, the grades 
analyzed here  were only eight-and-a-half percentage points away from meeting this goal. 

Median Annual Typical Growth Percentage on i-Ready 
Spring Reading Diagnostic 

Goal: Growth of students with disabilities is greater than 
the growth of general education students. 

Grade Level 2019-2020 2020-2021 

All Students 
with 

Disabilities 

All Students 
with 

Disabilities 

K 212% 197% 57% 61% 

1st 191% 220% 40% 54% 

2nd 143% 174% 62% 63% 

3rd 196% 163% 118% 108% 

4th 177% 283% 83% 71% 

5th 131% 150% 35% 0% 

Total 177% 174% 62% 61% 

Total 3rd-5th Grade 165% 162% 90% 64.5% 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not meet its growth goal of having the 
percentage of students with disabilities in the 3rd through 5th grades performing at or above 
grade level be greater than the growth of the school’s general education 3rd through 5th grade 
students between the fall and spring English language arts assessments. Looking at 3rd through 
5th grades, the growth of general education students on the i-Ready Spring reading diagnostic 
was 90% compared to the fall assessment. For the cohort of students identified as having a 
disability, the growth was only 64.5%. Among all grade levels assessed, but not considered for 
the purposes of measuring this growth goal, the school’s kindergarten, 1st, and 2nd grades’ 
students with disabilities showed greater growth on the i-Ready reading diagnostic between the 
fall and spring  assessments when compared to the school’s general education students. 

Merrick did administer the NYS ELA Assessment. However, having been remote all year, there 
was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet available. 
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ADDITIONAL CONTEXT AND EVIDENCE 

Merrick enrolls a high percentage of economically disadvantaged students and students with 
disabilities. In the 2019-20 school year, 80% of Merrick’s students were economically 
disadvantaged and 20% were identified as having a disability, five and two percentage points, 
respectively, higher than the district average. While learning during the pandemic has had 
negative effects on most students, the student population Merrick serves has been hit particularly 
hard. A report released by the federal Department of Education’s Office for Civil Rights found 
“that the pandemic has negatively affected academic growth, widening pre-existing disparities” 
and in core subject areas like reading “there are worrisome signs that in some grades students 
might be falling behind pre-pandemic expectations.” United States Department of Education’s 
Office of Civil Rights, Education in a Pandemic: The Disparate Impacts of COVID-19 on 
America’s Students, available at 
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf. 

Further, “[A]cademic progress for students of color appears to have been disproportionately 
impacted by the pandemic.” United States Department of Education’s Office of Civil Rights, 
Education in a Pandemic: The Disparate Impacts of COVID-19 on America’s Students, at p. 5,  
available at https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf. 
Indeed, a Renaissance Star report issued in the middle of the 2020-21 school year noted, 
“[S]tudents of color were even further from meeting pre-pandemic growth expectations than they 
were in the beginning of the school year,” warning, “‘students with slower-than-typical within 
year growth rates’ . . . were all disproportionately ‘at-risk for falling farther behind.’” Id. at pp. 
16- 17. 

Compounding the impact that COVID-19 has had on academic achievement, the national norms 
that i-Ready uses to assess student achievement were updated in August 2020 and are currently 
based on data from the 2018-19 school year. Curriculum Associate Research Report, i-Ready 
Diagnostic National Norms Tables for Reading and Mathematics for Grades K-8 2020-21, 
August 2020, available at: 
https://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7539/urlt/iready-norms-tables-K-8- 2020.pdf. In other 
words, the norms that are now being used to assess student achievement do not take into 
consideration the disruption in the traditional learning model most students in this country have 
experienced in the last two school years. In fact, the norms used this year are more stringent than 
those used for the 2019-20 school year, resulting in students being expected to achieve at a 
higher level, while having experienced 18-months of academic disruption because of COVID-19. 

SUMMARY OF THE ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE ENGLISH LANGUAGE 
ARTS GOAL 

https://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7539/urlt/iready-norms-tables-K-8-2020.pdf
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf
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In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick did not meet its English language arts assessment goals. 
However, given the ongoing pandemic and the impact it has had on academic achievement, 
particularly among the student population Merrick serves, Merrick’s English language arts 
assessment results should be considered satisfactory. As described in detail in the action plan 
below, we intend to close the achievement gaps created by the pandemic, so long as we are able 
to maintain in in-person learning for the entirety of the 2021-22 school year. 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

2020-21 i-Ready ELA Assessment End of Year Results 

Measure Subgroup Targe 
t 

Teste 
d 

Result 
s 

Met? 

Measure 1: Each year, the school’s 
median  percent progress to Annual 
Typical Growth  of 3rd through 8th grade 
students will be  equal to or greater than 
100%. 

All 
students 

100% 234 79% No 

Measure 2: Each year, the school’s 
median  percent progress to Annual 
Typical Growth of all 3rd through 
8th grade students who  were two or more 
grade levels below grade  level in the fall 
will be equal to or greater  than 110% by 
the spring assessment  administration. 

Low 
initial 

achiever 
s 

110% 234 101.5 No 

Measure 3: Each year, the median 
percent  progress to Annual Typical 
Growth of  3rd through 8th grade 
students with 
disabilities at the school will be equal to 
or  greater than the median percent 
progress to  Annual Typical Growth of 
3rd through 8th grade general education 
students at the  school. 

Students 
with 

disabilities2 

90%3 66 64.5% No 

Measure 4: Each year, 75% of 
3rd through  8th grade students enrolled in 
at least their  second year at the school 
will score at  the mid on-grade level or 
above scale score  for the year-end 
assessment. 

2+ students 75% 234 29% No 



ACTION PLAN 

The School will be implementing a number of new initiatives during the 2021-22 school year to 
improve ELA student achievement. The core beliefs under-pinning our academic planning for our 
post-pandemic return include, but are not limited to: 

● We teach every student grade-level content standards and we meet students where they are; 
● Our programs and offerings are responsive to the most current and accurate data; 

2 Schools may elect to report the aggregated data for a different subpopulation of students if the total tested 
number of students with disabilities is 5 or fewer, or if the school’s mission aligns to serving a different specific 
subpopulation. For schools that choose a different subpopulation (e.g. English language learners, homeless 
students, etc.), please explain the rationale in the narrative section 

3 Target should reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth for all general education students. 
In the case that the school elects to measure the achievement of a different subpopulation, the target should 
reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth of all students at the school not included in that 
subpopulation. 
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● We must intentionally plan to “teach and insist.” Teachers and leaders need high-quality, 
aligned, and consistent training and support in order to deliver on a robust plan for 
unfinished learning AND grade level learning; 

● We believe that the whole community will work together to help our students grow; ● 
Strengthening and aligning our current resources and building more effective and  consistent 
systems and processes that lead to teacher, leader, and student achievement; and ● We believe 
that accomplishing our goals requires intentionality in a way that allows us to  approach 
academics in a tiered and purposeful plan that closes gaps and keeps us on track  for long 
term goals. 

Our theory of action, which is based on research, case studies, school visits, and interrogations, is 
simple: If we deliver rigorous on grade-level instruction, And we create the structures necessary 
to execute on impactful remediation and acceleration And we build teacher and leader content 
knowledge and capacity to provide effective instruction, Then, 

● Students will continue to build content knowledge on grade-level standards while 
simultaneously receiving academic intervention support to close foundational learning 
gaps and make up for unfinished learning; and 

● Our staff and school community will have the tools, knowledge, experiences, and resources 
necessary to execute our school’s instructional vision (short-term and long term). 

In order to address unfinished learning among our students, we will implement the following 
acceleration, remediation, and enrichment strategies: 

● Deliver Strong Tier I instruction: 
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1. Strong instructional delivery of grade level content through effective 
execution of the new curriculum. 

● Acceleration Blocks 

1. Daily 40-minute small-group instruction targeted toward accelerating core 
foundational skills in literacy; 
2. Classrooms and class structures that include daily Tier 2 strategies to 

address foundational skills acceleration. (Targeted smaller groups); 
3. Extend and reorganize math and literacy blocks to include time for 

intentional spiraling of unfinished content into grade level content and 
delivery; 

4. Internalize and implement Daily Execution Protocol for Humanities Block; 
and 

5. Reorganizing ELA curriculum scope and sequence charts to ensure the 
efficacy and efficiency of the delivery of unfinished learning strategies as 
well as grade level content. 

● Strong Start (Phase I and II) 
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1. “All hands on deck” approach gathering both summative and formative data 
for students; 

2. Implement new Student Information System(s) to efficiently and effectively 
house and communicate student data; 

3. Community urgency and celebrations that center progress and excitement 
instead of “loss” or “being in deficit”; and 

4. Update and beautify hallways, classrooms, and common areas to build 
excitement and support immersion. 

● Ongoing implementation and monitoring of RTI 

1. Conduct weekly meetings with consistency and fidelity and communicate 
clear strategies and next steps for all stakeholders; 

2. Alignment of interventions to students’ specific gaps; 
3. RTI/MTSS materials archived: calendar, meeting notes; 
4. Instructional leaders engage in RTI walkthroughs to monitor and Tier 1, 2, 

and 3 interventions; 
5. Restructuring of our 40-minute academic support block to “Student 

Learning Lab.” A Student Learning Lab is an intervention block where 
scholars receive support based on the area of need. AIS providers will also 
push in during this time; and 

6. Including “High dosage tutoring” for our students who are most 
academically at-risk. Examples include after school at least 3 times a week 
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3:30 pm -5:30 pm and Saturday school 9 am-12pm. 

An example of high-dosage tutoring planned for 2021-2022, called Academic Intervention 
Services at Merrick, is below. For ELA, the curriculum and time planned for students at risk is 
the following: 

• Raz-Kids 

• Up to 90 minutes a week for at-risk/qualifying students 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 
13 



2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 
14 



2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

● Data Cycles 

1. Proactively monitor and respond to data: 
a. Student Individual Learner Profiles and on-going use and ownership 

of the plans; 
b. Daily exit tickets and debriefs; and 

c. Strengthening our data cycle system of reporting to ensure that 
teachers have a deeper and better view of their students’ growth on 

a dashboard and/or digital binders that teachers can easily access. 

● Building Teacher and Leader Capacity and Accountability 

1. Instructional Leaders engage in RTI walkthroughs to monitor Tier 1, 2, and 
3 interventions; 

2. Time in weekly “Learning Lab” for check-ins on strategies and results of 
students in Tier 1 and Tier 2; and 

3. “Frontloading” professional development for teachers on key instructional 
strategies for Tier 1 and Tier 2 during Pre-Service as they are planning for 
initial grade-level curricular units. Revamping and archiving observation 
and feedback protocols and tools, lesson plans, and trackers to specifically 
monitor progress in this area and provide stronger opportunities for 
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coaching and professional development. 

Strategic Approach for Content Knowledge Building and Implementation of New 
Curriculum 

● Accelerated Implementation of a researched based curriculum 

1. Development of an implementation plan that is designed for effective 
internalization, delivery, and high-level implementation that garners 
student growth and achievement. Including immersion, implementation, 
reshaping  to meet needs, etc.; 

2. Implementing a curriculum pacing and implementation tracker that is 
aligned and housed alongside curriculum maps, professional development 
calendar, assessments. Flow of the Day; and 

3. Intentionality with informational and professional development events to 
get student, teacher and family buy-in, support and feedback. 

● Teacher and Leader Development and Capacity Building 

1. Weekly Learning Labs (Lesson Learning Lab Model) for teachers that 
include: check-ins on pacing, understanding, peer and expert feedback, 
planning and practice for teachers; 

2. Bi-weekly professional development in key teacher and leader actions that 
lead to successful implementation of curriculum while building content 
knowledge and high leverage teacher/classroom strategies; 
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3. Bi-weekly one-on-one coaching sessions that ensure that teachers get 
feedback in aligned areas of instruction. Coaching and Feedback Cycle AP 
and Coach Meeting Protocol; 

4. Regular teacher step-backs and data days where teachers receive 
professional development in key areas of growth for their students while 
creating action-plans; 

5. Tiered professional development that is responsive to teacher and leader 
needs. Arc of the Year (PD); and 

6. Clearer alignment and coherence of the tools leaders use to provide 
feedback and support. (Get Better Faster and Instructional Practice Guide 
rubrics IPG) 

7. Merrick Academy had two ELA coaches in 2019-20, which were terminated 
after the 2019-20 school year due to budget constraints, requiring a 
heavier lift for our Assistant Principal responsible for ELA. The school, 
reconsidering the need of coaches, has hired an ELA coach for  2021-2022. 

● Strong Start 

1. “All hands on deck” approach to building routines and rituals that build 
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Socio-emotional learning through strong academic practices; and 
2. “Teach and Insist”-after diagnostics jump right into grade level curriculum 

with clear plans for spiraling in cumulative review. 

● Departmentalization in the testing grades to allow teachers to focus more on 
content area depth and breadth 

● Strengthening and streamlining data cycles 

1. Streamlining PD calendar, timely data distribution and support for teachers, 
assessment calendar and data meetings. 

● Strengthening community investment and knowledge of what is being taught 
and why. 

1. Develop and implement a Communication Plan that organizes and captures 
key communication strategies in order to improve transparency about the 
Teaching and Learning Cycles, communicate progress, celebrate 
community, and on-going feedback on the impact of the program 

GOAL 2: MATHEMATICS 

ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE MATHEMATICS 

Goal 2: Mathematics 
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BACKGROUND 

Merrick Academy’s mathematics curriculum is rooted in the following principles: 

1. Develop and apply multiple strategies to solve routine problems 
2. Apply methods of problem solving to complex problems requiring various methods 
3. Ability to increase precision and accuracy through approximating 
4. Utilize of inductive and deductive reasoning to solve problems; multi step, abstract and 

complex real-world problems 
5. Represent mathematical problems in multiple formats such as analytic, numerical and 

geometrical 

Merrick Academy’s mathematics curriculum is a comprehensive approach to the subject. 
Students are engaged in math review, problem solving, conceptual understanding, and mastery of 
math facts. In grades K-5, students participate in guided math instruction and centers, as well as 
number  stories and practice in foundational skills. 
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METHOD 

During 2020-21, the school(s) primarily used the following exam to assess student growth and 
achievement in mathematics: i-Ready 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy administered three i-Ready mathematics 
assessment exams to students in all grades, with the exception of kindergarten, which was only 
given the  second and third assessments. 

i-Ready Diagnostic describes4its services for math as an effective, research-based, web-based 
diagnostic assessment for students in grades K–12. Using a compatible computer with internet 
access and a headset, students take the online Diagnostic that assesses overall performance and 
sub-skill levels. i-Ready’s sophisticated computer adaptive algorithms ensure learners are 
assessed efficiently across a number of knowledge domains. The questioning format adapts as 
students respond to each question—getting more or less challenging as needed—to complete the 
diagnosis and identify each child’s performance level. The adaptive nature of the assessment 
meets students at their own skill level, so they experience success as well as challenge while 
i-Ready accurately measures their mastery of New York State Learning Standards. 

i-Ready includes a powerful management and reporting suite for delivery of essential 
performance information at the district, school, class, and student/group levels. Actionable, 
real-time reports guide educators in identifying the instructional needs and abilities of individual 
students and instructional groups, and also include explicit next steps for remediating areas of 
academic weakness. 

4 http://www.nysed.gov/common/nysed/files/iready-slo-assessment-form-c-and-h.pdf. 
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The i-Ready Diagnostic is strongly aligned to the New York State Learning Standards for math. 
The independent Educational Research Institute of America conducted a research study 
evaluating the relationship between i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State 
end-of-year assessments. The research found a high correlation between i-Ready Diagnostic and 
the New York State assessments. i-Ready was also shown to accurately predict end-of-year 
proficiency rates based on students' fall, winter, and spring Diagnostic performance. The strong 
correlations between the spring i-Ready Diagnostic and the 2016 New York State 
assessments—with overall correlations of .84 for mathematics for all students across grades 
3–8—exceed the Center on Response to Intervention's recommended .70 threshold for 
correlations. Curriculum Associates partnered with leading academics to develop a 
regression-based model for predicting New York State Assessment proficiency rates. i-Ready 
proficiency prediction from fall, winter, and spring Diagnostic results proved to be highly 
accurate and remarkably consistent with observed (actual) NYSTP proficiency rates— often 
within one percent of observed proficiency for the sample. Plus, i-Ready accurately identified 
individual student needs on the standards to drive targeted instruction—both student- and 
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teacher-led. 

Summary of the school’s modality changes during 2020-21: Similar to many NYC charter 
schools, Merrick Academy’s program was fully remote in 2020-21. However, we did open a 
Learning Center at our building with “student pods” run by operational staff to support our 
highest need students, such as those living in temporary housing, requiring child care as their 
parents were essential workers, students who did not have a parent at home that spoke English 
and could effectively support them in completing remote instruction; and, high need special 
education students, often those who required a 1:1 paraprofessional as mandated by their 
Individualized Education Plans. The Learning Center opened in December 2020 and served 120 
students through  June 2021. 

The school’s remote schedule offered professional development for teachers every Wednesday 
afternoon for 3 hours. The professional development provided was led by the CAO/Principal, 
Assistant Principal of Mathematics, Assistant Principal of ELA, and the Director of Student 
Support Services. The Director of Student Support Services is responsible for social emotional 
learning at Merrick and manages special education and supports students who are below grade 
level. Professional development was also provided by an ELA consultant, Math consultant, DEIA 
consultant, STEAM consultant and ANet, who provided data training to teachers. 

The school also served 270 students during a summer program, which was 50% academically 
focused and both prioritized students whose i-Ready results indicated they were below grade 
level and included emerging kindergarten students. The summer program was run and operated 
by the  school, to ensure health and safety protocols were followed. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

End of Year Performance on 2020-21 i-Ready Mathematics Assessment 
By All Students and Students Enrolled in At Least Their Second Year 

Grade 
s 

All Students Enrolled in at least their 
Second Year 
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Percent 
Mid On 
Grade 

Level or 
Above 

Number 
Tested 

Percent 
Mid-On 

Grade 
Level  or 
Above 

Number 
Tested 

3 21% 76 23.5% 68 

4 16% 85 17.6% 74 

5 26% 93 25.6% 86 

All 21% 254 22.4% 228 
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In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its absolute measure of 75% of 3rd 
through 5th grade students enrolled in at least their second year at the school performing at or 
above grade level standards on the mathematics assessment. Overall, 22.4% of students enrolled 
at the school for two or more years performed at or above grade level on the i-Ready spring 
mathematics assessment, over one percentage point above the school average for all 3rd through 
5th grade students. 

Merrick Academy’s 5th grade had the highest percentage of students attending the school for two 
or more years performing at or above grade level on the i-Ready spring mathematics assessment. 
Third grade students enrolled at the school for at least two years had a higher percentage of 
students performing at or above grade level compared to all 3rd grade, 23.5% compared to 21%. 
This trend of students enrolled at the school for at least two years having a higher percentage of 
students performing at or above grade level on the i-Ready mathematics spring assessment 
continued at the  4th grade and when assessing the all 3rd through 5th grade students. 

Percentage of Merrick Academy Students Performing at the 
Mid/Above Level on the i-Ready Mathematics Assessment 

2019-20 2020-21 

Grade Fall 
Assessment 

Winter 
Assessment 

Spring 
Assessment 

Fall 
Assessment 

Winter 
Assessment 

Spring 
Assessment 

K N/A 19% 89% N/A 89% 67% 

1st 2% 10% 68% 26% 34% 37% 

2nd 1% 10% 43% 21% 25% 27% 

3rd 1% 5% 28% 5% 10% 21% 

4th 1% 11% 48% 5% 7% 16% 

5th 5% 7% 19% 5% 13% 26% 

Comparing the results of the 2019-20 school year mathematics i-Ready assessments to the 2020-
21 assessments yields several interesting results. First, as described above and addressed again 
below, i-Ready updated their national norms in August 2020, resulting in students needing to 
score higher on the 2020-21 assessments to be considered at or above grade level compared to 
previous years. Also, in the 2020-21 school year, i-Ready’s fall norming window was moved up 
from the beginning of the school year through November 30 to the beginning of the school year 
through November 15. Couple these changes in i-Ready assessment analysis with the shifting 
learning models students have been subjected to during COVID-19, it could logically be 
expected that the percentage of students performing at or above grade level on the fall 
mathematics assessment 
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would have been higher in the pre-COVID 2019-20 school year compared to the fall 2020-21 
assessment. However, except for Merrick Academy’s 5th grade, which had the same percentage 
of students performing at or above grade level in the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years, each 
grade level tested on the fall 2020-21 mathematics assessment had a higher percentage of 
students performing at or above grade level compared to the fall assessment administered in the 
2019-20 school year. Impressively, Merrick Academy’s 1st and 2nd grade had a higher 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level, 24- and 20-percentage-points 
respectively, compared  to the 1st and 2nd grade in the 2019-20 school year. 

Similarly, except for the school’s 4th grade, the percentage of Merrick Academy students 
performing at or above grade level on the winter i-Ready mathematics assessment was higher in 
the 2020-21 school year compared to the 2019-20 school year. Like the 2019-20 school year fall 
assessment, the 2019-20 winter assessment was unaffected by COVID-19, as the school’s 
transformation to remote learning post-dates the end of the winter norming window. The most 
impressive growth on the winter assessment occurred in kindergarten, where the percentage of 
students performing at or above grade level between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years grew 
by 70-percentage points. Also impressive was the results among the school’s 1st and 2nd grades, 
where there was a 24- and 15-percentage point increase, respectively, in the percentage of 
students  performing at or above grade level on the winter assessment. 

When assessing longitudinal growth, each cohort of students who took the fall mathematics 
assessment in the 2019-20 school year showed growth when they took the fall assessment the 
next grade level up in the 2020-21 school year. The cohort showing the largest increase in the 
percentage of students performing at or above grade level between the 2019-20 and 2020-21 
school years was the cohort who took the fall mathematics assessment as 2nd graders in the 
2020-21 school year. From the 2019-20 school year, when they took the fall mathematics 
assessment as 1st graders to the 2020-21 school year, when they took the fall assessment as 2nd 
graders, the percentage of students performing at or above grade level in this cohort increased 
19-percentage points. There was also significant longitudinal growth among the cohort of 
students who took the fall mathematics assessment as 2nd,3rd, and 4th graders in 2019-20 when 
they took the assessment as 3rd, 4th, and 5th graders in 2020-21, a four-percentage point 
improvement among each cohort  of students. 

On the winter mathematics i-Ready assessment, there was longitudinal growth at each 
measurable grade, except for the cohort of students who took the winter assessment as 2nd 
graders in the 2019- 20 school year when they took the assessment as 3rd graders in the 2020-21 
school year. The greatest longitudinal increase among student cohorts between the i-Ready 
winter 2019-20 assessment and the 2020-21 assessment occurred in the cohorts of students who 
took the 2019-20 winter assessment as kindergarteners and 1st graders when they took the winter 
mathematics assessment as first and second graders in the 2020-21 school year, a 15-percentage 
point increase. Similarly impressive growth occurred among the cohort of students who took the 
winter assessment as 3rd grade students in the 2019-20 school year when they took the 
assessment as 4th 
grade students in the 2020-21 school year, as well as among the cohort of students who took the 
assessment as 4th graders in the 2019-20 school year when they took the assessment as 5th grade 
students in the 2020-21 school year. 
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End of Year Growth on 2020-21 i-Ready Mathematics Assessment 
By All Students 

Goal: Students will grow at a normed rate according to beginning of the year baseline score 
(Median Percent Annual Growth of 100% or more) 

Grade 
s 

Median 
Percent  of 

Annual 
Typical Growth 

Number 
Tested 

3 47% 76 

4 39% 85 

5 67% 93 

All 50% 254 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its growth goal of all 3rd through 
5th grade students growing at a median percent annual growth of 100% or more. 

Median Annual Typical Growth Percentage on 
i Ready Spring Mathematics Diagnostic 

Goal: Growth of students with low initial 
absolute achievement is greater than the target, 

median percent annual growth of 110% or 
more. 

Grade Level 2019-2020 2020-2021 

1st 358% 144% 

2nd 174% 82.5% 

3rd 120% 63% 

4th 171% 30% 

5th 113% 75% 

Total 154% 59% 

3rd-5th Grade Total 144% 42% 



In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not achieve its growth goal of all 3rd through 
5th grade students with low initial absolute achievement attaining a median percent annual 
growth of 110% or more on the spring assessment. Of all the grades eligible for assessment of 
this goal,  only the school’s 1st grade exceeded the annual growth goal of 110%. 

Median Annual Typical Growth Percentage on i-Ready 
Spring Mathematics Diagnostic 

Goal: Growth of students with disabilities is greater than 
the growth of general education students. 

Grade Level 2019-2020 2020-2021 

All Students 
with 

Disabilities 

All Students 
with 

Disabilities 

K 208% 159% 54% 28% 

1st 224% 183% 50% 74% 

2nd 144% 85% 50% 32% 
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3rd 104% 55% 40% 78% 

4th 139% 144% 57% 0% 

5th 83% 105% 72% 56% 

Total 144% 128% 53% 39% 

3rd-5th Grade Total 108% 105% 57% 35.4% 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick Academy did not meet its growth goal of having the 
percentage of students with disabilities in the 3rd through 5th grades performing at or above 
grade level be greater than the growth of the school’s general education 3rd through 5th grade 
students between the fall and spring mathematics assessments. Looking at all 3rd through 5th 
grade 
students, the growth of general education students on the i-Ready Spring mathematics diagnostic 
was 57% compared to the fall assessment. For the cohort of 3rd through 5th grade students 
identified as having a disability, the growth was only 35.4%. Among all grade levels assessed, the 
school’s 1st and 3rd grades’ students with disabilities showed greater growth on the i-Ready 
mathematics diagnostic between the fall and spring assessments when compared to the school’s 
general education students. 
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Merrick did administer the NYS Mathematics Assessment. However, having been remote all 
year,  there was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet 
available. 

ADDITIONAL CONTEXT AND EVIDENCE 

Studies have found that the pandemic has had the most negative effect on student achievement in 
mathematics. United States Department of Education’s Office of Civil Rights, Education in a 
Pandemic: The Disparate Impacts of COVID-19 on America’s Students, available at 
https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/20210608-impacts-of-covid19.pdf. 
(“This and other early reports suggest that trends may vary by subject, with math skills generally 
slipping more than reading, perhaps substantially so.”). 

Indeed, a July 2021 report by McKinsey & Company found that on average the pandemic left 
students five months behind in math. The report further noted that “The pandemic widened 
preexisting opportunity and achievement gaps, hitting historically disadvantaged students hardest. 
In math, students in majority Black schools ended the year with six months of unfinished 
learning, students in low-income schools with seven. McKinsey & Company, COVID-19 and 
Education: The Lingering Effects of Unfinished Learning, July 27, 2021, available at 
https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/public-and-social-sector/our-insights/covid-19-and 
education-the-lingering-effects-of-unfinished-learning. 

Compounding the impact that COVID-19 has had on learning and academic achievement, the 
national norms that i-Ready uses to assess student achievement were updated in August 2020 and 
are currently based on data from the 2018-19 school year. Curriculum Associate Research Report, 
i-Ready Diagnostic National Norms Tables for Reading and Mathematics for Grades K-8 2020-
21, August 2020, available at: https://www.fldoe.org/core/fileparse.php/7539/urlt/iready-norms 
tables-K-8-2020.pdf. In other words, the norms that are now being used to assess student 
achievement do not take into consideration the disruption in the traditional learning model most 
students in this country have experienced during the last 18-months. In fact, the norms used this 
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year are more stringent than those used for the 2019-20 school year, resulting in students being 
expected to achieve at a higher level, while having experienced 18-months of academic 
disruption  because of COVID-19. 

Merrick Academy had one Math coach in 2019-20, who was terminated after the 2019-20 school 
year due to budget constraints, requiring a heavier lift for our Assistant Principal responsible for 
Math. The school, reconsidering the need of coaches, has hired an ELA and a Math coach for 
2021-2022. 

SUMMARY OF THE ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE MATHEMATICS GOAL 

In the 2020-21 school year, Merrick did not meet its mathematics assessment goals. However, 
given the ongoing pandemic and the impact it has had on academic achievement, particularly 
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among the student population that Merrick serves, the school’s mathematics assessment results 
should be considered satisfactory. As described in detail in the action plan below, we intend to 
close the achievement gaps created by the pandemic, so long as we are able to maintain in in 
person learning for the entirety of the 2021-22 school year. 

2020-21 i-Ready Mathematics Assessment End of Year Results 

Measure Subgroup Targe 
t 

Teste 
d 

Result 
s 

Met? 

Measure 1: Each year, the school’s 
median  percent progress to Annual 
Typical Growth  of 3rd through 8th grade 
students will be  equal to or greater than 
100%. 

All 
students 

100% 254 50% No 

Measure 2: Each year, the school’s 
median  percent progress to Annual 
Typical Growth of all 3rd through 
8th grade students who  were two or more 
grade levels below grade  level in the fall 
will be equal to or greater  than 110% by 
the spring assessment  administration. 

Low 
initial 

achiever 
s 

110% 254 42% No 
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Measure 3: Each year, the median 
percent  progress to Annual Typical 
Growth of  3rd through 8th grade 
students with 
disabilities at the school will be equal to 
or  greater than the median percent 
progress to  Annual Typical Growth of 
3rd through 8th grade general education 
students at the  school. 

Students 
with 

disabilities5 

57%6 66 34.5% No 

Measure 4: Each year, 75% of 
3rd through  8th grade students enrolled in 
at least their  second year at the school 
will score at  the mid on-grade level or 
above scale score  for the year-end 
assessment. 

2+ students 75% 228 22.4% No 

ACTION PLAN 

The School will be implementing the following initiatives during the 2021-22 school year to 
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improve student achievement in math: The core beliefs under-pinning our academic planning for 
our post-pandemic return include, but are not limited to: 

● We teach every student grade-level content standards and we meet students where they 
are; 

● Our programs and offerings are responsive to the most current and accurate data; ● We 
must intentionally plan to “teach and insist”. Teachers and leaders need high-quality, 
aligned, and consistent training and support in order to deliver on a robust plan for 
unfinished learning and grade level learning; 
● We believe that the whole community will work together to help our students grow; ● 
Strengthening and aligning our current resources and building more effective and 
consistent systems and processes that lead to teacher, leader, and student achievement; 
and 
● We believe that accomplishing our goals requires intentionality in a way that allows us to 

approach academics in a tiered and purposeful plan that closes gaps and keeps us on track 
for long term goals. 

Our theory of action, which is based on research, case studies, school visits, and interrogations, is 
simple: If we deliver rigorous on grade-level instruction, and we create the structures necessary 

5 Schools may elect to report the aggregated data for a different subpopulation of students if the total tested 
number of students with disabilities is 5 or fewer, or if the school’s mission aligns to serving a different specific 
subpopulation. For schools that choose a different subpopulation (e.g. English language learners, homeless 
students, etc.), please explain the rationale in the narrative section 

6 Target should reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth for all general education students. 
In the case that the school elects to measure the achievement of a different subpopulation, the target should 
reflect the median percent of progress to Annual Typical Growth of all students at the school not included in that 
subpopulation. 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

to execute on impactful remediation and acceleration and we build teacher and leader content 
knowledge and capacity to provide effective instruction, Then: 

● Students will continue to build content knowledge on grade-level standards while 
simultaneously receiving academic intervention support to close foundational learning 
gaps and make up for unfinished learning; and 

● Our staff and school community will have the tools, knowledge, experiences, and 
resources necessary to execute our school’s instructional vision (short-term and long 
term). 

In order to address unfinished learning among our students, we will implement the following 
acceleration, remediation, and enrichment strategies: 

● Deliver Strong Tier I instruction: 
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1. Strong instructional delivery of grade level content through effective 
execution of the new curriculum. 

● Acceleration Blocks 

1. Daily 40-minute small-group instruction targeted toward accelerating core 
foundational skills in literacy and/or Math; 

2. Classrooms and class structures that include daily Tier 2 strategies to 
address foundational skills acceleration. (Targeted smaller groups); 

3. Extend and reorganize math and literacy blocks to include time for 
intentional spiraling of unfinished content into grade level content and 
delivery; 

4. Internalize and implement Daily Execution Protocol for Math Block; and 
5. Reorganizing Math and ELA curriculum scope and sequence charts to 
ensure the efficacy and efficiency of the delivery of unfinished learning 

strategies as well as grade level content. 

● Strong Start (Phase I and II) 

1. “All hands on deck” approach gathering both summative and formative 
data for students; 

2. Implement new Student Information System(s) to efficiently and 
effectively house and communicate student data; 

3. Community urgency and celebrations that center progress and excitement 
instead of “loss” or “being in deficit”; 

4. Update and beautify hallways, classrooms, and common areas to build 
excitement and support immersion. 

● Ongoing implementation and monitoring of RTI 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

1. Conduct weekly meetings with consistency and fidelity and communicate 
clear strategies and next steps for all stakeholders; 

2. Alignment of interventions to students’ specific gaps; 
3. RTI/MTSS materials archived: calendar, meeting notes; 
4. Instructional leaders engage in RTI walkthroughs to monitor and Tier 1, 2, 

and 3 interventions; 
5. Restructuring of our 40-minute academic support block to “Student 

Learning Lab.” A Student Learning Lab is an intervention block where 
scholars receive support based on the area of need. AIS providers will also 
push in during this time; and 

6. Including “High dosage tutoring” for our students who are most 
academically at-risk. Examples include after school at least 3 times a week 
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3:30 pm -5:30 pm and Saturday school 9 am-12pm. 

Please see Academic Intervention slides provided above for ELA, that describes Merrick’s 
approach to high-dosage tutoring. 

For math, the curriculum and time planned for students at-risk of meeting standards is the 
following: 

• Zearn 

• Up to 90 minutes a week for at-risk/qualifying students 

● Data Cycles 

1. Proactively monitor and respond to data: 
a. Student Individual Learner Profiles and on-going use and 

ownership of the plans; 
b. Daily exit tickets and debriefs; and 

c. Strengthening our data cycle system of reporting to ensure that 
teachers have a deeper and better view of their students’ growth on 

a dashboard and/or digital binders that teachers can easily access. 

● Building Teacher and Leader Capacity and Accountability 

1. Instructional Leaders engage in RTI walk-throughs to monitor Tier 1, 2, 
and 3 interventions. 

2. Time in weekly “Learning Lab” for check-ins on strategies and results of 
students in Tier 1 and Tier 2 

3. “Frontloading” professional development for teachers on key instructional 
strategies for Tier 1 and Tier 2 during Pre-Service as they are planning for 

initial grade-level curricular units. Revamping and archiving observation  and 
feedback protocols and tools, lesson plans, and trackers to specifically 

monitor progress in this area and provide stronger opportunities for 
coaching and professional development. 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Strategic Approach for Content Knowledge Building and Implementation of New 
Curriculum 

● Accelerated Implementation of a researched based curriculum 
1. Development of an implementation plan that is designed for effective 

internalization, delivery, and high-level implementation that garners 
student growth and achievement. Including immersion, implementation, 
reshaping to meet needs, etc.; 

2. Implementing a curriculum pacing and implementation tracker that is 
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aligned and housed alongside curriculum maps, professional development 
calendar, assessments. Flow of the Day; and 

3. Intentionality with informational and professional development events to 
get student, teacher and family buy-in, support and feedback. 

● Teacher and Leader Development and Capacity Building 

1. Weekly Learning Labs (Lesson Learning Lab Model) for teachers that 
include: check-ins on pacing, understanding, peer and expert feedback, 
planning and practice for teachers; 

2. Bi-weekly professional development in key teacher and leader actions that 
lead to successful implementation of curriculum while building content 
knowledge and high leverage teacher/classroom strategies; 

3. Bi-weekly one-on-one coaching sessions that ensure that teachers get 
feedback in aligned areas of instruction. Coaching and Feedback Cycle 

AP and Coach Meeting Protocol; 
4. Regular teacher step-backs and data days where teachers receive 

professional development in key areas of growth for their students while 
creating action plans; 

5. Tiered professional development that is responsive to teacher and leader 
needs. Arc of the Year (PD); and 

6. Clearer alignment and coherence of the tools leaders use to provide 
feedback and support. (Get Better Faster and Instructional Practice Guide 
rubrics IPG). 

7. Merrick Academy had one Math coach in 2019-20, which the school was 
able to retain after the 2019-20 school year due to budget constraints, 
requiring a heavier lift for our Assistant Principal responsible for Math. 
The school, reconsidering the need of coaches, has hired a Math coach for 
2021-
2022. 

● Strong Start 

1. “All hands on deck” approach to building routines and rituals that build 
Socio-emotional learning through strong academic practices; and 

2. “Teach and Insist”-after diagnostics jump right into grade level curriculum 
with clear plans for spiraling in cumulative review. 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

● Departmentalization in the testing grades to allow teachers to focus more on 
content area depth and breathe 

● Strengthening and streamlining data cycles 

1. Streamlining PD calendar, timely data distribution and support for 
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teachers, assessment calendar and data meetings. 

● Strengthening community investment and knowledge of what is being taught 
and why. 

1. Develop and implement a Communication Plan that organizes and 
captures key communication strategies in order to improve transparency 
about the Teaching and Learning Cycles, communicate progress, celebrate 
community, and on-going feedback on the impact of the program 

GOAL 3: SCIENCE 

ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE SCIENCE 

Goal 3: Science 
All students at the School will demonstrate competency in the understanding and application of 
scientific reasoning. 

BACKGROUND 

Merrick Academy’s science curriculum is rooted in the following principles: 

1. Inquiry-based 
2. STEAM Literacy 
3. Spiraled and interdisciplinary 
4. Developing curiosity through the world around us 
5. Using data and evidence to make claims based on relevant learning experiences 

The science curriculum provides authentic learning opportunities fueled by scholar curiosity and 
the scientific method. Students learn about the key scientific principles through inquiry, reading, 
writing, and mathematical concepts. Students make connections with what they are discovering 
to other subject areas. The curriculum spirals and builds upon content as the students move on to 
different grade levels at the school. 

METHOD 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 
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Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. Merrick did administer the NYS Science Assessment. However, having been remote all 
year, there was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet 
available. 

ADDITIONAL CONTEXT AND EVIDENCE 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. 

SUMMARY OF THE ELEMENTARY AND MIDDLE SCIENCE GOAL 

Merrick Academy did not administer an interim science assessment exam in the 2020-21 school 
year. Merrick did administer the NYS Science Assessment. However, having been remote all 
year, there was low attendance for the exam and the NYS assessment results are not yet 
available. 

ACTION PLAN 

Merrick Academy is committed to student achievement in science, as most recently evidenced by 
the renewal of the school’s charter in June 2020 and incorporating a STEAM focus into its 
mission for the next five years, with dedicated STEAM blocks built into the 2021-22 school 
schedule. In the 2020-21 school year, steps towards this mission will include science infused into 
mathematics and humanities instruction and the addition of a STEAM expert consultant, who 
will, in particular, train the Science Teacher, and who will oversee the program. 

GOAL 4: ESSA 
Due to COVID-19 and the subsequent changes to the state’s testing, accountability, and federal 
reporting requirements, the 2020-21 school accountability statuses are the same as those assigned 
for the 2019-20 school year. The 2019-20 accountability statuses were based on 2018-19 exam 
results. Assigned accountability designations and further context can be found here. 

Goal 7: Absolute Measure 
Under the state’s ESSA accountability system, the school is in good standing: the state has 
not identified the school for comprehensive or targeted improvement. 

METHOD 

2020-21 ACCOUNTABILITY PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 

Because all students are expected to meet the state's performance standards, the federal statute 
stipulates that various sub-populations and demographic categories of students among all tested 
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students must meet the state standard in and of themselves aside from the overall school results. 
As New York State, like all states, is required to establish a specific system for making these 
determinations for its public schools, charter schools do not have latitude in establishing their 
own performance levels or criteria of success for meeting the ESSA accountability requirements. 
Each year, the state issues School Report Cards that indicate a school’s status under the state 
accountability system. 

RESULTS AND EVALUATION 

Merrick Academy was in good standing pursuant to the state’s ESSA accountability system in 
the 2020-21 school year. 

ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE 

The School has been in good standing for the past three school years. 

Accountability Status by Year 

Year Status 

2018-19 Good standing 

2019-20 Good standing 

2020-21 Good standing 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Trustees 
Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Laurelton, New York 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter 
School, which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related 
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 



Board of Trustees 
Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Page 2 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Supplemental Information 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. 
The accompanying supplemental information within the statements of functional expenses is presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information 
is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the 
financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we also have issued our report dated October 25, 
2021, on our consideration of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School’s internal control over 
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter 
School’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering Merrick Academy – 
Queens Public Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

New York, New York 
October 25, 2021 



                

 
 

         

             

         

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Statements of Financial Position 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

2021 2020 

Assets 

Current Assets 
Cash $ 3,137,188 $ 2,487,033 
Grants and contracts receivable 24,425 173,156 
Prepaid expenses 102,243 101,440 

Total current assets 3,263,856 2,761,629 

Security deposits 127,770 127,770 
Cash – reserve 76,037 75,829 
Fixed assets – net 1,062,536 715,954 

Total assets $         4,530,199 $ 3,681,182 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $           294,940 $ 157,012 
Accrued salaries and related liabilities 792,927 752,002 
Deferred revenue 9,306 25,223 
Loan payable - 459,518 

Total current liabilities 1,097,173 1,393,755 

Deferred rent 126,505 184,877 
Loan payable - 737,015 

Total long term liabilities 126,505 921,892 

Total liabilities 1,223,678 2,315,647 

Net Assets, Without Donor Restrictions 3,306,521 1,365,535 

Total liabilities and net assets $         4,530,199 $ 3,681,182 

See Notes to Financial Statements 3 



         

 

         

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Statements of Activities 

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Operating Revenues and Other Support 
Resident student enrollment 
Students with disabilities 

Total state and local per-pupil 
operating revenues 

Government grants and contracts 
Contributions 
Interest 
Miscellaneous income 
Forgiveness of PPP Loan 

Total operating revenues 
and other support 

Expenses 
Program services 

Education 
Special education 

Total program services 

Supporting services 
Management and general 

Total expenses 

Change in Net Assets 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions, Beginning of Year 

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions, End of Year 

2021 2020 

$         9,534,157 
1,514,496 

$ 8,803,300 
1,479,114 

11,048,653 

330,704 
49,458 

177 
-

1,204,975 

10,282,414 

231,169 
-

288 
31,996 

-

12,633,967 10,545,867 

5,769,702 
3,371,092 

9,140,794 

5,916,097 
2,739,896 

8,655,993 

$         

1,552,187 

10,692,981 

1,940,986 

1,365,535 

3,306,521 $ 

1,603,612 

10,259,605 

286,262 

1,079,273 

1,365,535 

See Notes to Financial Statements 4 
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Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Operating Activities 
Change in net assets 
Items not requiring (providing) operating cash flows 

Depreciation 
Bad debt expense 
Gain on forgiveness of loan 
Noncash interest expense 

Changes in 
Grants and contracts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Accrued salaries and related liabilities 
Deferred revenue 
Deferred rent 

Net cash provided by operating activities 

Investing Activities 
Fixed asset acquisitions 

Net cash used in investing activities 

Financing Activities 
Proceeds from loan 

Net cash provided by financing activities 

Net Change in Cash and Restricted Cash 

Cash and Restricted Cash, Beginning of Year 

Cash and Restricted Cash, End of Year 

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash Consist of: 
Cash 
Cash - reserve 

Noncash Investing Activities 
Property and equipment in accounts payable 

2021 2020 

$         1,940,986 $ 286,262 

398,969 
39,748 

(1,204,975) 
8,442 

322,613 
-
-
-

108,983 
(803) 

81,456 
40,925 

(15,917) 
(58,372) 

66,400 
(18,084) 
(37,635) 
(25,259) 
25,223 

(36,698) 

1,339,442 582,822 

(689,079) (245,557) 

(689,079) (245,557) 

- 1,196,533 

- 1,196,533 

650,363 1,533,798 

2,562,862 1,029,064 

$         3,213,225 $ 2,562,862 

$         3,137,188 
76,037 

$ 2,487,033 
75,829 

$         3,213,225 $ 2,562,862 

$ 64,383 $ 7,912 

See Notes to Financial Statements 7 



 

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Note 1: Nature of Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School (the School) is an educational corporation that 
operates as a charter school in the borough of Queens, New York City. On January 1, 2000, the 
Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees of the University of the State of New York, for and on 
behalf of the State Education Department, granted the School a charter from grades K-6. The 
charter has been renewed until June 30, 2025. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 
2020, the School operated classes for approximately 570 and 530 students in grades K-5, 
respectively. 

The School is exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. However, the School is subject to federal income tax on any unrelated business taxable 
income. The School is supported primarily by state and local per-pupil operating revenues. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, expenses 
and change in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Cash and Restricted Cash 

As part of the School’s charter agreement, the School agreed to establish a long-term reserve 
account to pay for legal and audit expenses that would be associated with a dissolution should it 
occur. 

At June 30, 2021, the School’s cash accounts exceeded federally insured limits by approximately 
$2,900,000. 

Grants and Contracts Revenue and Receivables 

Revenues from government grants and contracts to which the School is entitled are recognized 
mostly on student enrollment. Some grants are provided for specific educational endeavors which 
are not based on student enrollment and are recorded when related expenditures are incurred by the 
School. Receivables are recorded when the revenue is earned. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

Management determines whether an allowance for doubtful accounts should be provided for 
tuition, contributions, or grants receivable. Accounts written off as uncollectible are deducted from 
the allowance for doubtful accounts. Such estimates are based upon management’s assessment of 
the aged basis of its receivables, historical information, expected collections, business and 
economic conditions and collections subsequent to year-end. Interest income is not accrued or 
recorded on receivables. Management deemed no allowance necessary for the years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020. 
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Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment acquisitions over $1,000 are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation 
and amortization. Depreciation and amortization is charged to expense on the straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful life of each asset. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the 
shorter of the lease term or respective estimated useful lives. 

The estimated useful lives for each major depreciable classification of property and equipment are 
as follows: 

Leasehold improvements 5-20 years 
Furniture and fixtures 7 years 
Office and classroom equipment 3 years 
Computer equipment 3 years 
Software 3 years 

Long-Lived Asset Impairment 

The School evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets whenever events 
or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If a long-lived asset is 
tested for recoverability and the undiscounted estimated future cash flows expected to result from 
the use and eventual disposition of the asset are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the asset 
cost is adjusted to fair value and an impairment loss is recognized as the amount by which the 
carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. No asset impairment was recognized 
during the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 

Net Assets 

Net assets, revenues, gains and losses are classified based on the existence or absence of donor- or 
grantor-imposed restrictions. 

Net assets without donor restrictions are available for use in general operations and not subject to 
donor or certain grantor restrictions. 

Net assets with donor restrictions are subject to donor- or certain grantor-imposed restrictions. 
Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the 
passage of time or other events specified by the donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are 
perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that resources be maintained in perpetuity. 

At June 30, 2021 and 2020, all net assets are without donor restrictions and are available to be used 
for operations. 

State and Local Per-Pupil Operating Revenues 

Revenues from the state and local governments resulting from the School’s charter status and based 
on the number of students enrolled are recorded when services are performed in accordance with 
the charter agreement. These grants are recorded as revenue by the School when services are 
rendered. 
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Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Contributions 

Contributions are provided to the School either with or without restrictions placed on the gift by the 
donor. Revenues and net assets are separately reported to reflect the nature of those gifts – with or 
without donor restrictions. The value recorded for each contribution is recognized as follows: 

Nature of the Gift Value Recognized 

Conditional gifts, with or without restriction 

Gifts that depend on the School overcoming a Not recognized until the gift becomes 
donor-imposed barrier to be entitled to the funds unconditional, i.e., the donor-imposed 

barrier is met 

Unconditional gifts, with or without restriction 

Received at date of gift – cash and other assets Fair value 

Received at date of gift – property, equipment Estimated fair value 
and long-lived assets 

Expected to be collected within one year Net realizable value 

Collected in future years Initially reported at fair value 
determined using the discounted present 
value of estimated future cash flows 
technique 

In addition to the amount initially recognized, revenue for unconditional gifts to be collected in 
future years is also recognized each year as the present-value discount is amortized using the level-
yield method. 

When a donor-stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets 
with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the 
statements of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 

Gifts and investment income that are originally restricted by the donor and for which the restriction 
is met in the same time period are recorded as revenue with donor restrictions and then released 
from restriction. 

Conditional contributions having donor stipulations which are satisfied in the period the gift is 
received are recorded as revenue and net assets without donor restrictions. 

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, $9,306 and $25,223 of proceeds received from conditional 
contributions were recorded as a liability as the conditions had not been met, respectively. 

10 



         

            

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Leases 

Leases are classified as operating or capital leases in accordance with the terms of the underlying 
agreements. Operating lease payments are charged to equipment and auto leases expense. 
Operating lease expense is recorded on the straight-line basis over the life of the lease, unless 
another systematic and rational basis is more representative of the time pattern in which use benefit 
is derived from the leased property, in which case that basis shall be used. Deferred rent is 
recorded for the difference between the fixed payment and the rent expense. In 2021 and 2020, all 
leases were classified as operating leases. 

Income Taxes 

The School is exempt from income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and 
a similar provision of state law. However, the School is subject to federal income tax on any 
unrelated business taxable income. The School is exempt from filing tax returns in the U.S. federal 
jurisdiction. 

Functional Allocation of Expenses 

The costs of supporting the various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the separate statements of functional expenses. The statements of functional 
expenses present the natural classification detail of expenses by function. All of these expense line 
items are allocated based on staffing allocations to the main functional areas of the school: general 
education, special education and management/general. 

Note 2: Property and Equipment 

2021 2020 

Leasehold improvements 
Furniture and fixtures 
Office and classroom equipment 
Computer equipment 
Software 

$         1,509,566 $ 1,154,298 
557,590 491,124 
420,262 389,538 

1,035,145 819,124 
246,421 169,349 

Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization 

3,768,984 

(2,706,448) 

3,023,433 

(2,307,479) 

$         1,062,536 $ 715,954 

11 



         

         

 

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Note 3: Loan Payable 

On March 27, 2020, President Trump signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act. On May 4, 2020, the School received a loan in the amount of $1,196,533 pursuant to 
the Paycheck Protection Program. The School has elected to account for the funding as a loan in 
accordance with ACS Topic 470, Debt. The loan is due two years from the date of the first 
disbursement under the loan and has a fixed interest rate of 1 percent per year. PPP loans are 
subject to audit and acceptance by the U.S. Department of Treasury, Small Business 
Administration, or lender; as a result of such audit, adjustments could be required to any gain 
recognized. On January 13, 2021, the Small Business Administration forgave the balance of the 
loan. 

Note 4: Lease Commitments 

The School has a lease on the school building which will expire on December 31, 2022. Rent 
expense for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $830,277. The lease for the building is 
being straight-lined over the life of the lease. The deferred rent liability as of June 30, 2021 and 
2020 was $126,505 and $184,877, respectively. 

The School entered into noncancelable lease agreements for office equipment expiring at various 
dates through June 2024. Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $101,592 
and $105,926, respectively. 

The future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2021 are: 

Year Ending 
June 30 

2022 
2023 
2024 

$ 1,003,554 
517,115 
22,840 

$ 1,543,509 

Note 5: Contingencies and Concentrations 

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by the funding sources. Such audits might 
result in disallowances of costs submitted for reimbursement. Management is of the opinion that 
such cost disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial 
statements. Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial 
statements for such potential claims. 

A significant portion of the School’s operating revenue is paid by New York State Education 
Department. 

In addition, all grants and contracts receivable due at year-end were all due from the New York 
State Education Department. 

12 



 

        

        

Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Note 6: Retirement Plan 

The School sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan for its employees. All employees are immediately 
eligible to participate in the plan. Employees can make pretax contributions up to a maximum of 
100 percent of the annual compensation, subject to IRS restrictions. The School matches the 
employee contribution up to 4 percent of the employee’s annual compensation. Pension expense 
under this plan for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $165,663 and $138,439, 
respectively. 

Note 7: Liquidity and Availability 

The School’s financial assets available within one year of the balance sheet date for general 
expenditures as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 are: 

2021 2020 

Financial assets at year-end 
Cash 
Grants and contracts receivable 

$        3,137,188 
24,425 

$ 2,487,033 
173,156 

Financial assets available to meet cash needs fo
general expenditures within one year 

r 
$        3,161,613 $ 2,660,189 

The financial assets of the School without donor restrictions or restricted by state laws, are 
available for general expenditures. As part of liquidity management, the School invests cash in 
excess of daily requirements in short-term investments. Although the School does not intend to 
spend from its net assets other than amounts appropriated for general expenditures as part of its 
annual budget approval and appropriation, amounts could be made available if necessary. During 
the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the level of liquidity and reserves was managed within the 
policy requirements. 

Note 8: Subsequent Events 

Subsequent events have been evaluated through October 25, 2021, which is the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

13 



Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2021 and 2020 

Note 9: Future Changes in Accounting Principles 

Accounting for Leases 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board amended its standard related to the accounting for 
leases. Under the new standard, lessees will now be required to recognize substantially all leases 
on the statements of financial position as both a right-of-use asset and a liability. The standard has 
two types of leases for statements of activities recognition purposes: operating leases and finance 
leases. Operating leases will result in the recognition of a single lease expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term similar to the treatment for operating leases under existing standards. 
Finance leases will result in an accelerated expense similar to the accounting for capital leases 
under existing standards. The determination of lease classification as operating or finance will be 
done in a manner similar to existing standards. The new standard also contains amended guidance 
regarding the identification of embedded leases in service contracts and the identification of lease 
and non lease components in an arrangement. The new standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning after December 15, 2021, and any interim periods within annual reporting periods that 
begin after December 15, 2022. The School is evaluating the effect the standard will have on the 
financial statements; however, the standard is expected to have a material effect on the financial 
statements due to the recognition of additional assets and liabilities for operating leases. 

14 



Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters

Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Trustees 
Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Laurelton, New York 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of 
Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as of June 30, 2021, and the related statements of activities, functional expenses and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated October 25, 2021. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Merrick Academy – 
Queens Public Charter School’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis 
for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School’s internal control. Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter 
School’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter 
School’s financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. 
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our 
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no 
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government 
Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

New York, New York 
October 25, 2021 
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Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Schedule of Findings and Responses 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Findings Required to be Reported by Government Auditing Standards 

No matters are reportable. 
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Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

Year Ended June 30, 2021 

Reference 
Number Summary of Finding Status 

No matters are reportable. 
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Board of Trustees, Audit Committee and Management 
Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
Laurelton, New York 

As part of our audit of the financial statements of Merrick Academy – Queens Public Charter School 
(the School) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2021, we wish to communicate the following to you. 

AUDIT SCOPE AND RESULTS 

Auditor’s Responsibility Under Auditing Standards Generally Accepted in the United States of 
America and the Standards Applicable to Financial Audits Contained in Government Auditing 
Standards Issued by the Comptroller General of the United States 

An audit performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States is designed to obtain reasonable, rather than 
absolute, assurance about the financial statements.  In performing auditing procedures, we establish 
scopes of audit tests in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. Our engagement does not 
include a detailed audit of every transaction.  Our engagement letter more specifically describes our 
responsibilities. 

These standards require communication of significant matters related to the financial statement audit that 
are relevant to the responsibilities of those charged with governance in overseeing the financial reporting 
process.  Such matters are communicated in the remainder of this letter or have previously been 
communicated during other phases of the audit.  The standards do not require the auditor to design 
procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to be communicated with those charged with 
governance. 

An audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of 
their responsibilities.  Our engagement letter more specifically describes your responsibilities. 

Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices 

Significant Accounting Policies 

The School’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 of the audited financial statements. 

Alternative Accounting Treatments 

No matters are reportable. 

Management Judgments and Accounting Estimates 

No matters are reportable. 



  

Financial Statement Disclosures 

No matters are reportable. 

Audit Adjustments 

During the course of any audit, an auditor may propose adjustments to financial statement amounts.  
Management evaluates our proposals and records those adjustments which, in its judgment, are required 
to prevent the financial statements from being materially misstated. A misstatement is a difference 
between the amount, classification, presentation or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and 
that which is required for the item to be presented fairly in accordance with the applicable financial 
reporting framework. Some adjustments proposed were not recorded because their aggregate effect is not 
currently material; however, they involve areas in which adjustments in the future could be material, 
individually or in the aggregate.  

Proposed Audit Adjustment Recorded 

 Accrual and forgiveness of interest on PPP loan. 

Proposed Audit Adjustments Not Recorded 

 Attached is a summary of uncorrected misstatements we aggregated during the current 
engagement and pertaining to the latest period presented that were determined by 
management to be immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, but more than trivial to 
the financial statements as a whole. 

Auditor’s Judgments About the Quality of the School’s Accounting Principles 

No matters are reportable. 

Other Material Communications 

Listed below are other material communications between management and us related to the audit: 

 Management representation letter (attached) 

 We orally communicated to management other deficiencies in internal control identified during 
our audit that are not considered material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. 

OTHER MATTERS 

We observed the following matters and offer these comments and suggestions with respect to matters 
which came to our attention during the course of the audit of the financial statements.  Our audit 
procedures are designed primarily to enable us to form an opinion on the financial statements and, 
therefore, may not bring to light all weaknesses in policies and procedures that may exist.  However, these 
matters are offered as constructive suggestions for the consideration of management as part of the 
ongoing process of modifying and improving financial and administrative practices and procedures.  We 
can discuss these matters further at your convenience and may provide implementation assistance for 
changes or improvements. 
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New Lease Accounting Standard 

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), the long-
awaited standard on lease accounting.  FASB has issued various ASUs since that date related to Topic 
842 as well seeking to clarify guidance and provide more transition relief in certain areas. 

Under the ASU, lessees will recognize lease assets and liabilities on their balance sheet for all leases with 
terms of more than 12 months.  The new lessee accounting model retains two types of leases and is 
consistent with the lessee accounting model under existing generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP).  One type of lease (finance leases) will be accounted for in substantially the same manner as 
capital leases are accounted for today.  The other type of lease (operating leases) will be accounted for 
(both in the income statement and statement of cash flows) in a manner consistent with today's operating 
leases.  Lessor accounting under the standard is fundamentally consistent with existing GAAP. 

Lessees and lessors would be required to provide additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures to 
help financial statement users assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from 
leases.  These disclosures are intended to supplement the amounts recorded in the financial statements so 
that users can understand more about the nature of an organization’s leasing activities.  

The School is required to adopt Topic 842 for fiscal year 2023.  Early adoption is permitted. 

Implementation 

The approved delay by FASB of the effective date of the new leases standard Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 842 by one year for private companies and most non-profit organizations is welcome 
relief as many of these entities continue to work on their implementations of the new revenue standard 
(ASC 606). 

However, there are certain lease implementation items to get moving on sooner rather than later: 

1. Educate yourself and key stakeholders about ASC 842. 

a. Check out bkd.com for BKD Thoughtware resources, including articles and webinars 
related to the new standard and the related implementation efforts. 

2. Early decision points: 

a. Transition method 

b. Practical expedients and accounting policy elections 

3. Accumulate the population of potential leases. 

4. Communicate with lenders – expected impact of ASC 842 on existing debt covenants. 

5. Systems analysis – Do you need lease software?  If so, vendor selection takes time. 

6. Start developing the processes and controls necessary for effective implementation of the ASC 
842 as well as the ongoing accounting requirements. 

3 



This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the board of trustees, 
audit committee and others within the School and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone 
other than these specified parties. 

New York, New York 
October 25, 2021 
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Merrick Academy Queens Public Charter School 
ATTACHMENT 

This analysis and the attached "Schedule of Uncorrected Misstatements (Adjustments Passed)" and "Schedule of 
Uncorrected Misstatements (Notes to the Financial Statements)"reflect the effects on the financial statements if the 
uncorrected misstatements identified were corrected. 

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS 

Before Subsequent to 
Misstatements Misstatements Misstatements % Change 

Current Assets 

Non-Current Assets 

Current Liabilities 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Current Ratio 

3,263,856 6,137 3,269,993 0.19% 

1,266,343 0 1,266,343 0.00% 

(1,105,087) (6,137) (1,111,224) 0.56% 

(126,505) 0 (126,505) 0.00% 

2.95 2.94 -0.34% 

Total Assets 

Total Liabilities 

Net Assets 

4,530,199 6,137 4,536,336 0.14% 

(1,231,592) (6,137) (1,237,729) 0.50% 

(3,298,607) 0 (3,298,607) 0.00% 

Revenues & Income 

Costs & Expenses 

Change in Net Assets 

(12,626,053) 0 (12,626,053) 0.00% 

10,692,981 0 10,692,981 0.00% 

(1,933,072) 0 (1,933,072) 0.00% 

Misstatements within Notes to the Financial Statements 
1 0  



    

Client:  Merrick Academy Queens Public Charter School SCHEDULE OF UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (ADJUSTMENTS PASSED) 

Period Ending:  June 30, 2021 

Location or Financial 
Factual (F), 

Judgmental (J) 
Assets 

Current Noncurrent 
Liabilities 

Current Noncurrent 
(X) 

Non 

Revenues & 
Income 

Costs & 
Expenses Net Assets 

Net Effect on Following Year 
Change in Net Net Assets 

Description Business Unit Line Item or Projected (P) DR  (CR) DR  (CR) DR  (CR) DR  (CR) Tax DR  (CR) DR  (CR) DR  (CR) DR  (CR) DR  (CR) 

Reclass debit balances from accounts 
payable to prepaid expenses 

F 6,137 0 (6,137) 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Taxable passed adjustments 
Times (1 - effective tax rate of 00%) 
Taxable passed adjustments net of tax impact 
Nontaxable passed adjustments 
Total passed adjustments, net of tax impact (if an 

6,137 
6,137 

0 
0 

0 
(6,137) 
(6,137) 

0 
0 

0 
100% 

0 
0 
0 

0 
100% 

0 
0 
0 

0 
100% 

0 
0 
0 

0 0 

Impact on Change in Net Asse 0 

Impact on Net Assets 0 



 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  
 

  
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
   

 
 

    

Representation of: 
Merrick Academy Charter School 
136-25 218th Street 
Laurelton, NY 11413 

Provided to: 
BKD, LLP 
Certified Public Accountants 
1155 Avenue of the Americas, Suite 1200 
New York, NY 10036 

The undersigned (“We”) are providing this letter in connection with BKD’s audits of our financial 
statements as of and for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 

Our representations are current and effective as of the date of BKD’s report: October 25, 2021. 

Our engagement with BKD is based on our contract for services dated:  June 30, 2021. 

Our Responsibility and Consideration of Material Matters 

We confirm that we are responsible for the fair presentation of the financial statements subject to BKD’s 
report in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We are also responsible for adopting sound accounting policies; establishing and maintaining effective 
internal control over financial reporting, operations, and compliance; and preventing and detecting fraud. 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material.  Items are 
considered material, regardless of size, if they involve an omission or misstatement of accounting 
information that, in light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the judgment of a reasonable 
person relying on the information would be changed or influenced by the omission or misstatement. 

Confirmation of Matters Specific to the Subject Matter of BKD’s Report 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following: 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of our contract, for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of: 

a. Internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

b. Internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 

3. We have reviewed and approved a draft of the financial statements and related notes referred to 
above, which you prepared in connection with your audit of our financial statements. We 



 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

  

 
 

 
 

    

Merrick Academy Charter School 
Page 2 

acknowledge that we are responsible for the fair presentation of the financial statements and related 
notes. 

4. We have provided you with: 

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements, such as records, documentation, and other matters. 

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit. 

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to 
obtain audit evidence. 

d. All minutes of meetings of the governing body held through the date of this letter or 
summaries of actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared. 
All unsigned copies of minutes provided to you are copies of our original minutes approved 
by the governing body, if applicable, and maintained as part of our records. 

e. All significant contracts and grants. 

5. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements. 

6. We have informed you of all current risks of a material amount that are not adequately prevented 
or detected by our procedures with respect to: 

a. Misappropriation of assets. 

b. Misrepresented or misstated assets, liabilities or net assets. 

7. We believe the effects of the uncorrected financial statement misstatements summarized in the 
attached schedule are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements 
taken as a whole. 

8. We understand the potential penalties for failure to disclose reportable tax transactions to the taxing 
authorities and have fully disclosed to BKD any and all known reportable tax transactions. 

9. We have no knowledge of any known or suspected fraudulent financial reporting or 
misappropriation of assets involving: 

a. Management or employees who have significant roles in internal control, or 

b. Others, where activities of others could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

10. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity received 
in communications from employees, customers, regulators, suppliers, or others. 

11. We have assessed the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of 
fraud and disclosed to you any such risk identified. 



    

Merrick Academy Charter School 
Page 3 

12. We have disclosed to you the identity of the entity’s related parties and all the related party 
relationships and transactions of which we are aware.  Related party relationships and transactions 
have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We understand that the term related party refers to an affiliate, management and members of their 
immediate families, component units, and any other party with which the entity may deal if the 
entity can significantly influence, or be influenced by, the management or operating policies of the 
other.  The term affiliate refers to a party that directly or indirectly controls, or is controlled by, or 
is under common control with, the entity. 

13. Except as reflected in the financial statements, there are no: 

a. Plans or intentions that may materially affect carrying values or classifications of assets 
and liabilities. 

b. Material transactions omitted or improperly recorded in the financial records. 

c. Material gain/loss contingencies requiring accrual or disclosure, including those arising 
from environmental remediation obligations. 

d. Events occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date through the date of this letter 
requiring adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements. 

e. Agreements to purchase assets previously sold. 

f. Restrictions on cash balances or compensating balance agreements. 

g. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the entity is contingently liable. 

14. We have disclosed to you all known instances of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with 
laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 

15. We have no reason to believe the entity owes any penalties or payments under the Employer Shared 
Responsibility Provisions of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act nor have we received 
any correspondence from the IRS or other agencies indicating such payments may be due. 

16. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation or claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements.  We have not sought or received attorney’s 
services related to pending or threatened litigation or claims during or subsequent to the audit 
period.  Also, we are not aware of any litigation or claims, pending or threatened, for which legal 
counsel should be sought. 

17. Adequate provisions and allowances have been accrued for any material losses from: 

a. Uncollectible receivables, including pledges. 

b. Purchase commitments in excess of normal requirements or above prevailing market 
prices. 

18. Except as disclosed in the financial statements, the entity has: 
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a. Satisfactory title to all recorded assets, and they are not subject to any liens, pledges, or 
other encumbrances. 

b. Complied with all aspects of contractual and grant agreements, for which noncompliance 
would materially affect the financial statements. 

19. The financial statements disclose all significant estimates and material concentrations known to us. 
Significant estimates are estimates at the balance sheet date that could change materially within the 
next year.  Concentrations refer to volumes of business, revenues, available sources of supply, or 
markets for which events could occur that would significantly disrupt normal finances within the 
next year.  Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

20. The fair values of financial and nonfinancial assets and liabilities, if any, recognized in the financial 
statements or disclosed in the notes thereto are reasonable estimates based on the methods and 
assumptions used.  The methods and significant assumptions used result in measurements of fair 
value appropriate for financial statement recognition and disclosure purposes and have been applied 
consistently from period to period, taking into account any changes in circumstances.  The 
significant assumptions appropriately reflect market participant assumptions. 

21. We have not been designated as a potentially responsible party (PRP or equivalent status) by the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) or other cognizant regulatory agency with authority to 
enforce environmental laws and regulations. 

22. With respect to any nonattest services you have provided us during the year, including assisting 
with the preparation of the financial statements and preparation of information returns: 

a. We have designated a qualified management-level individual to be responsible and 
accountable for overseeing the nonattest services. 

b. We have established and monitored the performance of the nonattest services to ensure 
they meet our objectives. 

c. We have made any and all decisions involving management functions with respect to the 
nonattest services and accept full responsibility for such decisions. 

d. We have evaluated the adequacy of the services performed and any findings that resulted. 

23. We have identified to you any activities conducted having both fund raising and program or 
management and general components (joint activities) and have allocated the costs of any joint 
activities in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 958-720-45. 

24. We are an entity exempt from income tax under Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code and 
a similar provision of state law and, except as disclosed in the financial statements, there are no 
activities that would jeopardize our tax-exempt status or subject us to income tax on unrelated 
business income or excise tax on prohibited transactions and events. 

25. We acknowledge the entity is not a conduit debt obligor whose debt securities are listed, quoted, 
or traded on an exchange or an over-the-counter market. As a result, we acknowledge the entity 
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does not meet the definition of a “public entity” under generally accepted accounting principles for 
certain accounting standards. 

26. As an entity subject to Government Auditing Standards: 

a. We acknowledge that we are responsible for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, 
and provisions of contracts and grant agreements, including those pertaining to REAC 
electronic submission 

b. We have identified and disclosed to you all laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts 
and grant agreements that have a direct and material effect on the determination of amounts 
in our financial statements or other financial data significant to the audit objectives. 

c. We have identified and disclosed to you any violations or possible violations of laws, 
regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant agreements whose effects should be 
considered for recognition and/or disclosure in the financial statements or for your 
reporting on noncompliance. 

d. We have taken or will take timely and appropriate steps to remedy any fraud, abuse, illegal 
acts, or violations of provisions of contracts or grant agreements that you or other auditors 
report. 

e. We have a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations. 

f. We have identified to you any previous financial audits, attestation engagements, 
performance audits, or other studies related to the objectives of your audit and the 
corrective actions taken to address any significant findings and recommendations made in 
such audits, attestation engagements, or other studies. 

g. We have provided our views on any findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well 
as our planned corrective actions with respect thereto, to you for inclusion in the findings 
and recommendations referred to in your report on internal control over financial reporting 
and on compliance and other matters based on your audit of the financial statements 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

27. With regard to supplementary information: 

a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of the supplementary information 
in accordance with the applicable criteria. 

b. We believe the supplementary information is fairly presented, both in form and content, in 
accordance with the applicable criteria. 

c. The methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information are 
unchanged from those used in the prior period. 

d. We believe the significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement 
and/or presentation of the supplementary information are reasonable and appropriate. 

e. If the supplementary information is not presented with the audited financial statements, we 
acknowledge we will make the audited financial statements readily available to intended 
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users of the supplementary information no later than the date such information and the 
related auditor’s report are issued. 

28. We have evaluated whether there are conditions or events known or reasonably knowable, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a 
going concern within one year of the date of this letter without consideration of potential mitigating 
effects of management’s plans not yet fully implemented and concluded substantial doubt does not 
exist. 

29. We acknowledge the current economic volatility presents difficult circumstances and challenges 
for not-for-profit organizations.  Not-for-profit organizations are potentially facing declines in the 
fair values of investments and other assets, declines in the volume of business/contributions, 
constraints on liquidity and difficulty obtaining financing. We understand the values of the assets 
and liabilities recorded in the financial statements could change rapidly, resulting in material future 
adjustments to asset values, allowances for contributions receivable, etc. that could negatively 
impact the Organization’s ability to meet debt covenants or maintain sufficient liquidity. 

We acknowledge that you have no responsibility for future changes caused by the current economic 
environment and the resulting impact on the entity’s financial statements.  Further, management 
and governance are solely responsible for all aspects of managing the entity, including questioning 
the quality and valuation of investments and other assets, reviewing allowances for uncollectible 
amounts and evaluating capital needs and liquidity plans. 

30. We have responded fully and truthfully to all your inquiries. 

Adrian Manuel, Executive Director Josh Moreau, Financial Consultant 
Amanuel@merrickacademy.org Jmoreau@weboosted.com 

mailto:Jmoreau@weboosted.com
mailto:Amanuel@merrickacademy.org






























                                                    Date  6/30/21  
                                                    Primary Account  
                                                    Enclosures 

Page  1 
@XXXXXXXXXX@0500 

         MERRICK ACADEMY 
         13625 218TH ST 
         LAURELTON NY 11413-2226 

  CHECKING ACCOUNTS 

                                                 IMPORTANT MESSAGE 
         The privacy and security of your personal information is important to us. 
         Carver Federal Savings Bank is committed to maintaining the trust and 
          confidence we have built with our customers over the last 70 years. 
       To obtain a copy of our Consumer Privacy Notice, please visit our website at 
         www.carverbank.com or contact our Customer Service Team at 855-217-3373. 

  Money Market  
  Account Number  @XXXXXXXXXX@0500  
  Previous Balance  
        Deposits/Credits  
        Checks/Debits  
  Service Charge  
  Interest Paid  
  Current Balance  

76,034.20  
.00  
.00  
.00  
3.13  

76,037.33  

Number of Enclosures  0 
Statement Dates  6/01/21 thru  6/30/21 
Days in the statement period  30 
Average Ledger  76,034.20 
Average Collected  76,034.20 
Interest Earned  3.13 
Annual Percentage Yield Earned  0.05% 
2021 Interest Paid  33.43 

  *********************************************************************************** 

  Activity in Date Order 
  Date  Description  Amount  Balance 
   6/30 Interest Deposit  3.13  76,037.33 

  *********************************************************************************** 

  Daily Balance Information 
  Date  Balance  Date  Balance 
   6/01  76,034.20  6/30  76,037.33 

  *********************************************************************************** 

                             Interest Rate Summary 
                           Date  Rate 
                            5/31  0.050000% 

http:76,037.33
http:76,034.20
http:76,037.33
http:76,034.20
http:76,034.20
http:76,037.33
http:76,034.20
http:www.carverbank.com
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136-25 218th St. Laurelton, NY 11413 

(718) 479-3753 Merrickacademy.org 

Stephanie Mauterstock, Executive Director 

Samantha Pugh, CAO/Principal 

Inquiry, Equity and Excellence 

MERRICK ACADEMY| 2021-2022 SCHOOL CALENDAR 
How to read the calendar: 
❏ Yellow=Holiday/Break (NO SCHOOL) 
❏ Light Red=Remote Days for Students 
❏ Green=No School for students/Working for teachers 
❏ Blue=Important School Days 
❏ Magenta=Appreciation Days 
❏ Light Orange = Half Days (H.D.) 

SEPTEMBER ‘21 
S M T W Th F S 

1 2 3 4 
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
26 27 28 29 30 

06 Labor Day 
12  National Grandparents Day 
13  First Day of School 
16  Yom Kippur 

OCTOBER ‘21 
S M T W Th F S 

1 2 
3 4 5 6 7 8 9 
10 11 12 13 14 15 16 
17 18 19 20 21 22 23 
24 25 26 27 28 29 30 
31 

Month  National Principal Mth. 
11  Indigenous People 

/Italian Heritage Day 

S 
1 
7 
14 
21 
28 

NOVEMBER ‘21 
M T W Th F 
1 2 3 4 5 
8 9 10 11 12 
15 16 17 18 19 
22 23 24 25 26 
29 30 

S 
6 
13 
20 
27 

02  
11  
25-26  

Election Day (REMOTE) 
Veterans Day 
Fall Break 

S 

5 
12 
19 
26 

DECEMBER ‘21 
M T W Th F 

1 2 3 
6 7 8 9 10 

13 14 15 16 17 
20 21 22 23 24 
27 28 29 30 31 

S 
4 

11 
18 
25 

24-31  Winter Recess 

S 

2 
9 

16 
23 
30 

JANUARY ‘22 
M T W Th F 

3 4 5 6 7 
10 11 12 13 14 
17 18 19 20 21 
24 25 26 27 28 
31 

S 
1 
8 

15 
22 
29 

03  School In-Session 
17 M.L. King Day S 

6 
13 
20 
27 

FEBRUARY ‘22 
M T W Th F 

1 2 3 4 
7 8 9 10 11 
14 15 16 17 18 
21 22 23 24 25 
28 

S 

5 
12 
19 
26 

01  
7-11  
22  
21-25 

Lunar New Year 
School Counselor wk 
School Bus Driver Day 
Mid-Winter Recess 

http:Merrickacademy.org
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S 

6 
13 
20 
27 

MARCH ‘22 
M T W Th F 

1 2 3 4 
7 8 9 10 11 

14 15 16 17 18 
21 22 23 24 25 
28 29 30 31 

S 
5 

12 
19 
26 

4  
14  
17  
29-31  

Maintenance Day 
Pi Day 
St. Patrick’s Day 
3-5 ELA State Test 

APRIL ‘22 
S M T 

3 4 5 
10 11 12 
17 18 19 
24 25 26 

W 

6 
13 
20 
27 

Th 

7 
14 
21 
28 

F 
1 
8 

15 
22 
29 

S 
2 
9 

16 
23 
30 

4-8  
6  
15  
18-22  
26-28  

Assistant Principal Wk 
Paraprofessional Day 
REMOTE 
Spring Recess 
3-5 Math State Test 

S 
1 
8 

15 
22 
29 

M 
2 
9 

16 
23 
30 

MAY ‘22 
T W Th 
3 4 5 

10 11 12 
17 18 19 
24 25 26 
31 

F 
6 

13 
20 
27 

S 
7 

14 
21 
28 

01  
02  
3-6  
08 
11  
30  

School Principal Day 
Eid al-Fitr (REMOTE) 
Teacher Appreciation Wk 
Mother’s Day 
School Nurse Day 
Memorial’s Day 

S 

5 
12 
19 
26 

M 

6 
13 
20 
27 

JUNE ‘22 
T W Th 

1 2 
7 8 9 

14 15 16 
21 22 23 
28 29 30 

F 
3 

10 
17 
24 

S 
4 

11 
18 
25 

09  
19  
20  
27  

Chancellor (Students) 
Father’s Day * 
Juneteenth Observed 
Last Day of School(H.D.) 

http:Merrickacademy.org
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